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PROLOGUEL

“Yes, I have re-entered your olden haunts at last.
Through the years, through the dead scenes,
1 have tracked you.
What have you now found to say of our past?

Scanned across the dark space wherein I have lacked you?”

The words recur to me now, for I have passed through my own
wasted years and dead scenes and am left with the same, remem-
bered longing. If you had told me, my elusive quarry, what to ex-
pect from a quest after your past, I would never have embarked
upon it. Your shade, which I tracked and moved in, envelops me
now in this place of your displaced being. What would you do? I
know—there is no need to say. But first, there is a tale to tell.






ONE

he spring of 1977 found me, newly past thirty, a bad case

of wasted talent in a largely waste city—an unemployed,

divorced ex-schoolteacher of foundered promise and dis-
mal prospect. London, that grey month of March, seemed to echo
my self-pity.

That morning, the echo was a painful one in my head, fused
with the dull ache of last night’s beer and a well-worn theme be-
ing pursued by my increasingly reluctant host in the kitchen of
his Greenwich house. It was Saturday, so the throb of traffic from
Maze Hill was muted, the light, too, decently suffused as it struck
the table where I sat, sipping strong black coffee. Jerry sat oppo-
site me, washed and shaved, dressed and clear-headed—just four
things he was and I wasn’t—scanning the shares pages of 7he
Financial Times.

“Millennium up again,” he said.

“They would be,” I replied. The last thing I needed to know
was that my former employer was continuing to prosper, but it
didn’t surprise me. Millennium Properties had always been astute
in their purchase and promotion of historic buildings, but their
only concession to scholarship was to hire over-qualified menials
like me to fudge together their tour booklets.

Millennium had given me the first half-decent job I'd
had since leaving teaching. But, in an unguarded moment at a
Christmas party, I'd confided my contempt for their historical
standards—which were as transatlantic as their parent company—
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to completely the wrong person. After that, it had just been a
question of resigning before they could sack me.

I’d been in debt even before that and the loss of a salary soon
meant the flat in Richmond had to go. That’s when Jerry, a friend
from schooldays, had offered me his spare room in Greenwich, to
help me through a bad patch. But the patch had spread to two
months and Jerry’s patience was beginning to wear thin.

“Did I mention that Tribune are planning to open a new re-
gional office in Crawley?”

He had. And he’d mentioned that they’d be recruiting staff as
aresult and that, if I was interested, he could put in a word. I was,
in fact, monumentally uninterested. Jerry was an earnest, hard-
working actuary for the Tribune Life Assurance Company, where
he was doubtless highly thought of. But I could never thrive in his
world and it wouldn’t have done me—or Jerry—any good to try.
Yet explaining that to him was supremely difficult. Not only
would his sense of efficiency be affronted, but his over-serious,
understated personality would fail to comprehend how Tribune
Life—thirty-eight hours a week in modern offices with incre-
ments for the industrious and special rates for staff—could be
1deal for him but anathema to me.

“Yes, you did. I'm looking out for the adverts when they start
staffing it.”

It was a lie, of course. I wasn’t looking out for those or any
other vacancies. My pretence was designed to appease Jerry and
still my own secret fear that it wasn’t so much insurance as any ca-
reer that I couldn’t face.

I seized on a distraction exercise: opening my morning mail.
There were two letters, neatly propped by Jerry against the toast
rack. One was a credit card statement. The other looked more
promising: a Portuguese stamp and writing I recognized at once.

“This one’s from Alec,” I announced, hoping that his news
from Madeira would take us off the questions of my unemploy-
ment and homelessness. Jerry only knew Alec Fowler through me
and I only knew him because we’d shared a landing at university.
He was one of those students sophisticated beyond their years who
made the rest of us feel gauche and schoolboyish. But I was quick
to learn and he was eager for company in his riotous life. Alec
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surrounded himself with those—such as me—who liked to regard
themselves as free-thinking radicals. Cambridge 1n the late sixties
was a forcing house for our self-indulgent brand of student chic
which held that smoking pot and decrying established ideas was a
new and important social development. With Alec’s rogue intellect
to guide us, it seemed credible. Ten years on, it appeared unbeliev-
ably naive and—which we would have hated more—irrelevant.
Yet it retained a freshness and an optimism that marked it out in
my mind from the years of disillusionment since.

While I had filled those years by acquiring, then losing, a
wife, child and teaching career, and England had stumbled
through oil price rises and three-day weeks, Alec had contrived
always to enjoy himself. Questioned but not charged, warned but
not sent down, over the Garden House riot, he had appeared to
devote all his study time to political free-sheets but had still come
out with a first in English and then, in his own words, drifted
with purpose: Paris (“looking for the spirit of ’68”), then Venice
(“to see it before it sank”) and Crete (“to teach English and study
the Mediterranean light”). These spells away were punctuated by
trips home, when he would descend on me to relive our student
days in drunken weekends that were more than once the despair
of my wife.

Alec’s real ambition, as he often told me, was to break into
journalism. This seemed always about to happen but never had
yet. He was in New York at the time of Watergate but couldn’t
persuade anybody to print what he wrote on the subject. He was
taken on by a Montreal evening paper at the time of the
Olympics, but the job fell through before the Games even began.
Then it was time to forget journalism for a while and repair his fi-
nances with a six-month teaching contract in Madeira.

Only he hadn’t come back at Christmas as scheduled, just
when his company would have been the tonic I badly needed. I'd
written to him several times and this was his first reply. I read the
letter aloud to Jerry, hoping it would take his mind off my job-
seeking and flat-hunting efforts—or lack of them.

“Hi, Martin,

“How are you? Sorry all’s been quiet from me lately, but I've
had a lot on—more of that in a moment. Sad to hear about
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Millennium, but you’re probably well off out of it. Congratula-
tions to Jerry for putting up with you for so long.

The teaching stopped at Christmas and you wanted to know
what I've been doing since then. Never one to let the grass
grow—no pun intended—7I’ve started, wait for it, an island news-
paper. Madeira’s full of the English—in retirement or on holiday.
My 1dea was to give them a monthly magazine: a glossy English
language affair full of photographs of Madeira’s natural beauty
(which is considerable) and current affairs (which aren’t), to tell
the tourists what to see and where and the ex-pats about what’s
going on. I had a head start because there was simply no competi-
tion. What’s more, there’s a friend of mine here who’s as good a
photographer as I am a journalist (fatal combination?) and came
in with me, plus lots of shops and businesses keen to advertize to
the English, who are their best customers.

There’s also a South African hotelier in Funchal who put up
the money to start us off. Madeira Life was launched last month
and so far (fingers crossed) it’s going well. Leo—the hotelier—
arranged a cocktail do to butter up all the right people. I tell you,
if this goes on there’s some danger of me becoming an establish-
ment figure. More to the point, it could pave my way into Fleet
Street.

But not for a while yet. I'll have to do my apprenticeship here
first. Which brings me to an idea I've had to brighten your life.
Why not drop whatever you’re doing—which is nothing much
according to your last letter—and come out here for a holiday?
The Portuguese couple I share this house with are away for the
next month so I can easily put you up. Madeira’s beautiful in the
spring. I could show you round, you could tell me what you think
of the magazine and we could talk about old times.

What do you think? Let me know soon, Cheers, Alec.”

“Will you go?” said Jerry, a little too quickly for my liking.

“If T can possibly manage it, I'll be there like a shot.” T was
more confident than I might have sounded. I had a few hundred
in a building society to cater for emergencies and this could defi-
nitely be classified as one.

“Well, why not?” said Jerry. “A holiday would do you good.”

By Monday night, I was able to telephone Alec to suggest a
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date. After several false starts and through a forest of static, I
heard his familiar voice down the cable from distant Madeira.

“Glad you can make it, Martin. It'll be great to see you.”

“Hope so, but it’s sooner than you might have expected. I've
got an option on a spare seat aboard a charter flight on the 31st.”

“Take it. That’ll be a good time—T’ll be between issues and
able to show you the sights. And the sooner you come the better—
it may be worth your while.”

I dictated the flight number and time to him before we gave
up the struggle with the static. Only after I'd put the phone down
did I reflect on what he’d said and wonder whether he meant the
trip might be worth more than just a holiday. Now the magazine
was taking off, did he have something to offer to an old friend’s ad-
vantage? It was no more than the glimmer of a pleasing suspicion,
but it carried me happily through the week before my departure.

It was in a mood of well-being and optimism that I boarded the
charter flight to Madeira. Amid the holiday-bound happy fami-
lies, I felt out of place, but a few in-flight drinks passed the time
well enough, until, that is, stormy weather began to jostle the air-
craft.

As we buffeted down towards Madeira, I peered out of the
window for a sight of it, my knuckles on the arm of the seat turn-
ing as white as the wavetops which I found myself taking all too
close a look at. There was, though, a smudge of green somewhere
ahead of us and soon we hit something I hoped was the runway
and braked violently to a halt. I stumbled from the aircraft in-
stantly sober, tugging on an anorak against the drenching rain
and trailing behind the others into the terminal building.

There was no sign of Alec as we cleared customs and the rest
of the passengers began to disperse, but just when I was begin-
ning to fret, I saw him bounding down some steps from an upper
floor of the building.

“Hi, Martin,” he called, strolling towards me with a casual
wave of greeting. He looked fit and well, tanned and relaxed,
sandy hair turned blond by the sun, more like a lifeguard than a
journalist as he clapped me on the back and smiled broadly.
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“How are you, old son? You look bloody awful.”

“Thanks, Alec.” I grinned ruefully. “So would you if you’d
been through that landing. I thought we were going to ditch in
the Atlantic.”

“A bit hairy, eh? It didn’t look too bad from the bar.”

“What does?”

“That’s more like it. Actually, the runway is a bit on the short
side. I didn’t tell you because I thought it might put you off. This
weather doesn’t help. You must have brought it with you—it’s the
worst day of the year. Trust a pessimist like you to arrive when
Madeira’s looking at its worst.” Alec was right: I'd always ex-
pected the worst from life and generally got it. He’d always hoped
for the best and sometimes been rewarded. That’s why I'd spent
an idle winter in London and he’d exploited the potential of an
island in the sun. He was also right that it wasn’t at its best that
day. The taxi driver wore sunglasses and drove as if the roads
were dry, but all I saw as we sped round hairpin bends along the
coast road to Funchal were dark cliffs, angry seas and louring
clouds—more like Cornwall than the tropics.

“Don’t worry,” Alec assured me, “weather like this never lasts.
Madeira’s a beautiful island, believe it or not. Not that the
Madeirans do much to keep it that way.” He pointed through
the stair-rod rain at an abandoned building site. “They’ve got all
the Latin vices”—we lurched through a pothole and I nodded
agreement, while hoping the driver didn’t understand English—
“and only one virtue: they’re letting me get a magazine on the
road. I know it’s the back of beyond, but it’s a start.” After count-
less false starts, Alec’s hope was intact. And so, miraculously, were
we when the taxi wound down the hills and bends into Funchal: a
smear of grey and brown buildings round a semi-circle of hills
above a broad bay.

Alec’s house was a haven—cool, dry and peaceful, three
things it hadn’t been outside. I slumped down in the lounge with
relief, while Alec kept up his scatter-gun appraisal of life on
Madeira from the kitchen.

“It’ll be black coffee,” he shouted. “Milk’s like gold dust here.
But you look as if you need it straight anyway. There’s a copy of
the magazine on the table. Take a look.”
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Madeira Life, April 1977: bold lettering on a glossy cover,
adorned by a smiling, dark-haired girl in a striped dress and
bolero jacket, clasping bunches of mimosa, their bright yellow
blooms starting from the page.

I'leafed through the issue. Clever and perceptive pictures, and
Alec’s punchy prose, drew me on through a diary of events and a
page of local news.

“What is the big story on Madeira at the moment, Alec?”

“There’s never a big story, Martin. I just dress up what there
is and pander to my readers’ prejudices.”

“And they are?”

“Predictable. The same as English exiles anywhere, I guess:
Why are the locals so loud and lazy?”

“And where can you get a cheap dinner?”

“You’ve seen my piece on the Jardim do Sol. Actually it’s a very
good restaurant. I force myself to eat out every week to safeguard
my readers’ palates. Funchal’s full of good, cheap eating places—
and some bad ones. It’s important to know the difference.”

“I can imagine. Ah, this looks like your knowing eye.”

I’d passed a centre spread on the Flower Festival and come to
an array of darkly promising, thickly encrusted wine bottles:
“‘Old Madeira—Does Any Still Remain?’”

“You're bound to become a connoisseur of the stuff here. The
trade’s dominated by the English families—always has been—so
it’s a natural subject for them to read about.”

“And for you to sample on their behalf?”

“You said it. But that piece is about 1792 vintage and whether
there mightn’t be a few stray bottles left. Napoleon was offered
some on his way to St. Helena but wasn’t fit enough to drink any.”

“Sad.”

“Yes—but typical. Madeira’s out of the main stream of
world events. Famous people only come here before—or after—
their prime. As you'll see.”

I thought I already had, for here were sepia prints of
Churchill, his unmistakable, bulky frame perched on a stool
painting a seascape and, in another shot, posing with his wife on
some arabesque balcony, with palm trees in the background.

Alec came into the room then, carrying a tray, and glanced
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over my shoulder. “Churchill wintered here often after the war,”
he said. “He liked painting up the coast at Camara de Lobos.” He
set the tray down on the table and poured us coffee. “What do you
think of it then?”

I closed the magazine and looked up. “It’s good, Alec,” I said.
“Very good. Colourful, lively, informative. I'd buy it.”

“You think it’s got a future?”

“It certainly deserves one. And you’ll know whether there’s a
market for it.” I sipped appreciatively at the coffee. “In your letter
you mentioned a backer.”

“Exactly. I ingratiated myself with the right man there. Leo
Sellick’s South African and therefore well in with the English. He
made a packet buying and selling land when hotels were spring-
ing up all over, and still owns one at Machico, east of here, where
there’s the only decent beach on the island. He’s obviously got an
eye for investments, so it’s encouraging that he’s put some money
into Madeira Life. He also knows all the right people, who would
otherwise freeze me out. He bends their ears up at the Country
Club and makes them think well of me.”

“He sounds invaluable.”

“He is. And with his help, I'm going to make a go of this.”

I wished him well, genuinely, but not without a tinge of re-
sentment. Alec had fallen on his feet again, while I still hadn’t
found mine. His enthusiasm meant we didn’t have to dwell on my
own news, which was negligible anyway. But I did entertain him
with an embroidered version of my departure from Millennium.
In this, I'd resigned on the spot, rather than under coercion on
New Year’s Eve. Historian though I was, I didn’t mind laundering
the past when it suited my purpose.

Later, after dark, the rain stopped and Alec took me out to a
restaurant he wanted to cover for the magazine. It was small, hot,
crowded and cheerful, full of Latin laughter and bustling, seedy
waiters. Alec ordered up two steaks of espada—a deep-sea fish—
in shrimp sauce and a hearty bottle of d&o to wash them down,
then another when we started to relax.

“Tomorrow,” he declared confidently, “I’ll take you straight
to the high spot of your stay.”

“What's that?”
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“You can meet Leo. He lives up at Camacha, in the hills north-
east of here. When he heard you were visiting me, he insisted I
take you up to have dinner with him. And believe me—it’s not to
be missed. He’s a generous host and his quinta’s a lovely place.”

“Quinta?”

“Estate, if you like. But you’ll remember quinta from port
bottles at Cambridge. We got through a fair amount of Quinta do
Noval together, I remember.”

“Our concession to conservatism.”

“And out of my price range here. So have another glass of this
stuff, which isn’t.”

So I did, and the evening dissolved in drink and debate about
British and Portuguese politics, students then and now, journal-
ism and Madeira. Already, I was enjoying myself. An old friend
and a new setting were taking effect.

Madeira was a different place when I woke next morning. There
was a deep blue sky visible through the open window of my
room, a chatter of birdsong from the garden, warm sweet air to
fill my lungs as I rose and gazed out at sun-drenched Funchal, its
rooftops already shimmering in a heat haze. Walls that had been
grey when we drove in the day before were glaringly white, tiled
roofs that had been brown were bright orange, the city clustering
on a verdant hillside above a broad blue ocean. My head was thick
but the air was clear, the prospect bright.

Alec went out after breakfast and returned with some bread,
cooked chicken and mangoes. “A picnic lunch,” he announced.
“We’ll need 1t later. Are you ready to start?”

“What’s the hurry? I thought we were going out to dinner?”

“We are—on foot. But it’s a six-hour walk to Camacha, so get
your boots on.”

“I didn’t know we’d be doing any hiking.”

“I told you—I'm a reformed character. And you look as if
some exercise would do you good. Besides, it’s a beautiful walk.”

Alec started cutting sandwiches. “We’ll take my rucksack,”
he said. “Pack anything you want for an overnight stay. We won’t
come back tonight.”
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Well, Alec had said Leo Sellick was a generous host. As for the
beauty of the walk, I took his word for it. And at least there was
dinner at the end of it.

We walked down to the harbour and boarded a battered old
red and grey bus to carry us out of Funchal. It lurched and jud-
dered up steep-cobbled, high-walled roads, engine protesting as
we climbed ever upwards.

“We're going up to Monte,” Alec shouted into my ear above
the diesel roar. “It’s a route taken by lots of English settlers in the
past, up into the hills where the air’s cooler and supposed to have
healing qualities. Monte’s full of rest homes for wealthy pul-
monary patients.” Fumes wafted through the window as the bus
strained round a hairpin bend. “Of course, they didn’t travel by
bus.” I could understand why.

The bus wound up into the hills until the air became fresher
and the streets broader. We were at Monte, cooler and more peace-
ful than Funchal and, yes, more English as well. We left the bus
and walked down a cobbled street past steps leading up to a large,
white-fronted church with two rounded belfries and a statue of the
Virgin Mary prominent in a niche in the centre of the facing wall.

“Our Lady of the Mount Church,” said Alec. “Emperor
Charles of Austria is buried there.”

“Did he come here for his health?”

“If so, 1t didn’t do him much good. He died young.”

We pressed on through Monte to the Hotel Belmont and
turned along a cobbled road past banks of blue and white agapan-
thus into the settlement of Babosas. Here a railed lookout gave us
views over the whole sweep of Funchal and the harbour, the hills
above the city quilted with terraces and changing hue constantly
as we looked, the shadows of clouds chasing each other across the
corrugated slopes. I took pleasure just in looking, for the greens
and blues were so much more vivid than they would have been in
England, like acrylic paint after watercolour for one who’d just
emerged from a winter in London.

We took a grassy path through a sunshot pine and mimosa
forest heavy with scent and emerged into a narrow valley with
crumbling, basalt cliffs either side. Climbing uphill, we reached
the ramparts of a miniature canal where it emerged from the
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blackness of a tunnel. We headed east along a narrow walkway
behind the watercourse.

“This is a levada,” Alec explained. “Madeira’s crisscrossed by
them. They bring the rain down from the mountaintops to irri-
gate the land and drive power stations. And they’re perfect for sce-
nic walks.” Almost immediately a sheer drop down basalt cliffs
yawned to our right.

“Don’t look down,” said Alec. “Walk straight ahead and
you’ll be perfectly safe.”

I followed Alec carefully along the path until it led away from
the dizzy drops, to where pine groves and carpets of lilies flanked
our route. Apart from diverting round the boundary walls of a
private quinta, we stuck to the levada and its path of ochre-red
earth for the next couple of hours until we came to a dusty main
road crossing our path.

From the other side of the road, beside a pink-walled cottage—
its garden awash with orange and purple lily blossoms—we looked
down wooded slopes towards the sea, the coastline—and the
humps of the off-shore islands, the Desertas, beyond it—misty in
the heat.

“Immediately below us 1s Palheiro Ferreiro,” Alec announced.
“See the mansion down in the trees?”—I could make out its
orange rooftops amid the greenery—*“That’s the Blandy quinta.
They’re about the wealthiest of the English families established
on Madeira—a name to reckon with. They’ve dominated the
wine trade for three hundred years. So you see, the English have
always had a big say on the island.”

“Friends of Leo Sellick?”

“Leo’s a friend of everybody—especially people like the
Blandys. And, of course, they don’t live far apart.”

“I'm glad to hear that.”

“What'’s wrong? Feet playing up?”

“Let’s just say I reckon I'll have earned dinner.”

“We’ll stop for lunch soon.”

Lunch was, in fact, twenty minutes away and the other side of
a short levada tunnel which we scrambled through, bent double,
by the light of an ailing torch. Beyond, we sat down in a cool pine
grove and devoured the picnic.
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“We’ll soon be in Camacha,” said Alec. “Quinta do Porto
Novo lies a couple of miles the other side of the village.”

“And that’s where Leo lives?”

“Yes. It’s a lovely place at the head of the Porto Novo valley.
The scenery round Camacha reminds me of England—all mist
and mellow fruitfulness.”

He was right. The levada soon entered another tunnel—this
one impassable—and we diverted up a path to the scattered set-
tlement of Ribeirinha, then on up a dusty road between banked
verges overrun by blue hydrangeas towards Camacha. The land-
scape was indeed becoming English in character—apple or-
chards, with snowy drifts of blossom, stood between holts of
willow. We passed gardens and patios where stacks of slender
branches stood drying in the sun. “Wickerwork is the local cot-
tage industry,” Alec explained, “and the Camachans are masters
of the craft.”

We left the centre of the village by a cobbled path beside the
walls of a private quinta and followed it up to where it crossed an-
other, smaller, drier levada. We followed this as it snaked away
from Camacha round the western slopes of the Porto Novo valley.
More hydrangeas were in bloom here and the valley fell away be-
neath us in a tumble of greenery towards the sea. Cloud drifted
and played round the hilltops, filtering the sun as the afternoon
wore on. Once again, we were 1n paradise.

After about half an hour, the levada entered a tunnel and we
took a cobbled track down to join the dusty red main road leading
north from Camacha. We were at the head of the valley, where
the road bridged the Porto Novo river and swung round to the
eastern slope.

Ahead of us, round the curve, set in a peeling stucco wall that
ran along the roadside, wrought iron gates stood open, with the
name QUINTA DO PORTO NOVO inscribed on one of the flank-
ing pillars. The estate within was terraced and wooded and a cob-
bled drive zig-zagged up the hillside towards the house, its orange
roofs and white walls gleaming in the sunlight above the trees.

“This 1s it,” said Alec. “Quite a hideaway.”

We walked slowly up the drive as the still quiet of early
evening settled on the quinta. There was a vineyard on the sunny
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slope curving away to our right, but we climbed through banks of
apple trees, their blossom scattered in our path, to the house itself.

At the top of the drive, an archway led into a courtyard. A
fountain, supported by stone cherubim, played in the centre. A
half-walled and colonnaded gallery ran round three sides, with
hanging baskets in the arches and plaster urns at the foot of each
pillar, all overflowing with red hibiscus; their colour and scent
filled the yard. Within the gallery, I could see carved and decorated
doors leading into the body of the house and, in the middle of
the side facing the arch we’d entered by, balustraded stone steps
breaking the wall of the gallery and leading up to heavy wooden
doors that stood open to the sweet evening air. All here was peace
and silence, broken only—or rather perfectly complemented—by
the water of the fountain, the buzz of a late bee, the scratch of an
early cicada.

“It’s a beautiful place, Alec,” I said. “So warm and peaceful.”

“Thought you'd like it,” said Alec. “Let’s see if we can find
Leo.” He strolled towards the steps.

I'lingered by the fountain, savouring the atmosphere. My eye
was taken by the ridge tiles on the roof, which had been extended
beyond the eaves and crafted in the likeness of dragons’ heads. I
was gazing up at them, admiring the handiwork, when a voice
came from behind me.

“Tile embellishment is a Madeiran speciality.”

The clipped vowels rendered an introduction superfluous.
This was Leo Sellick, a short, wiry man, looking older than I'd ex-
pected, with a tanned and lined face, hair as white as his shirt, a
thin grey moustache, keen blue eyes and a flashing smile that car-
ried a glint of gold. We shook hands, Sellick with a grip that be-
lied his years.

“There you are, Leo,” said Alec from over my shoulder, re-
tracing his steps. “This is Martin Radford.”

“Of course, of course,” the old man said, still shaking my
hand. “You are most welcome, Mr. Radford. Alec’s told me all
about you and I'm delighted to make your acquaintance. I trust
you like the dragons. I'm especially fond of them myself.”

I assured him that I admired them and everything else I'd
seen of the house and glanced quizzically at Alec, wondering
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what he’d found to say of me. But he was already grinning at
Sellick and enquiring how the Quinta had fared in the storm, just
a little too deferentially for my liking.

“Mr. Radford doesn’t want to know how my vines are grow-
ing, Alec, and nor do you,” Sellick said with disarming accuracy.
“Come 1inside and let me offer you a sundowner. You look as if
you need one.”

We strolled up the steps and into the cool entrance hall of the
house, then turned into a large, airy drawing room, opulently fur-
nished in rich maroon leather and dark mahogany, with deep-
piled rugs beneath our feet. One was a complete leopardskin, laid
out on the hearth in front of a wide, brick-breasted fireplace,
with logs unkindled in the grate. Likewise, the large fan in the
centre of the ceiling was not in service. There were paintings and
photographs all round the walls, flowers in vases and pots, several
well-stacked bookcases, an air of tranquillity and repose. French
windows set in the middle of the wall facing us led out onto a ve-
randah and beyond that a garden. Sellick crossed to a cabinet and
poured our drinks.

“There you are, Mr. Radford,” he said, handing me a large
cool gin.

“Thanks,” I said. “And please, won't you call me Martin?”

“I'd be delighted to, if, that is, you will return the compli-
ment by addressing this toothless old lion as Leo.” I smiled: nei-
ther actually nor metaphorically was he toothless, but there was
something vaguely leonine about this proud and courteous old
man. He was shorter than me but stood more erect, with a set to
his head and a look in his eye that spoke of scrutiny and com-
mand. He had all the English graces but a steely South African
edge to them that left me in no doubt who’d shot the leopard.

He suggested we take our drinks onto the verandah while the
light held—Madeira’s brief twilight was now setting in—and we
followed him out happily, seating ourselves in low wicker chairs
and looking down the length of a well-trimmed and tended gar-
den. Winding stone steps led down from the verandah through
oleander bushes in blossom to a terraced lawn where a bench
stood by a sundial. Beyond that was a low fence overgrown with
bougainvillea, a wicket gate and more steps leading to a lower ter-
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race and what looked like a kitchen garden. A figure with a hoe
could be seen among the distant vegetable rows. The ground fell
away rapidly from that point towards the road and the valley
floor. The opposite wall of the valley faced us, the yellow gorse
scattered across it turning a dusty gold as evening fell. In the
greater distance, a hazy line marked the horizon, where the dark-
ening blue sky met the still darker sea.

“You have a beautiful home, Leo,” I said.

“Thank you,” he replied. “Madeira is justly called the floating
garden of the Atlantic and amongst all the beauties of my home-
land, I never found any of the serenity of this place.” He smiled.
“Here, one can truly forget the world and tend one’s vegetables.”

Alec grinned. “Leo’s speaking metaphorically, Martin. He
has a band of men to tend his vegetables.”

“That is true, but I take an active interest in them, especially
when they’re on my plate, as I hope they shortly will be. If you’ll
excuse me, I'll go and check on that.” He turned to me as he rose.
“If you wish to freshen up before dinner, Martin, Alec will show
you the way.” He bowed slightly and walked away through the
lounge.

“What do you think?” Alec asked after a pause.

“The perfect host,” I said. “And probably the perfect patron.”

“It’s a little ironic, though, isn’t 1t?”

“How do you mean?”

“Well, that I end up writing for English colonials and in debt
to a wealthy South African—people I once wouldn’t have been
seen dead with.” I had the impression Alec was getting his irony
in first—before his friend from left-wing student days could
point it out to him.

“It wouldn’t worry me in your shoes, Alec. We've all changed
and learned to accept life. Why not just make the most of it?”
This was gin and fatigue talking—the recommendation would
have been better directed at me than Alec. But at least it sup-
pressed any hint of jealousy.

“Well, at least we can make the most of dinner,” he said.
“Come on, I'll show you where the bathroom 1s.”

When I'd washed, I rejoined Alec in the drawing room, where
I found him closing the french windows against the night; it was
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now quite dark outside. “Let’s go through,” he said, and led me
back into the hall and through a door facing us into the dining
room.

A large oval table stood laid for three. The shutters had been
closed and the only illumination came from a candelabrum in
the centre of the table. Its light sparkled in silver cutlery and the
tracery of tall, narrow-stemmed wineglasses. Orchids stood, freshly
cut, in vases at either end, their brilliant red and yellow petals
highlighted by the white damask tablecloth.

“Leo’s gone to a lot of trouble,” said Alec. “You should feel
honoured.”

I did and, to give some little assistance, lit a taper and went
over to three candles that stood on a cabinet by the wall facing the
window. As the light splashed up from them onto the wall, it
caught a faded sepia photograph, sombrely framed but promi-
nently placed among several much larger paintings. Something
struck me as familiar about it, so I took a closer look. Sure enough,
it was what I thought: a conventional portrait photograph of a
group of about twenty men, some seated, the others standing be-
hind. It was familiar because I'd seen it before, reproduced in a
history textbook dealing with Edwardian politics. It was not a pe-
riod I’d specialized in as a student, but in my history-teaching
spell I'd become acquainted with it, and I easily identified this as
a group study of Asquith’s Cabinet, circa 1910. The Prime
Minister sat in the centre of the front row, flanked by the assem-
bled pride of the Liberal Party in its pre-war heyday. Lloyd
George, projecting alertness and dynamism beside Asquith’s
vague avuncularity, was close enough to the centre to have been
Chancellor of the Exchequer at the time. Standing a little pen-
sively at the back was the young Churchill, with that bulldog set
to his chin even then. Without a caption, I could not put names to
the rest of these frock-coated grandees, but it was an historic pic-
ture that I peered at with growing curiosity. It seemed strange to
see it there, of all times and places, and I said as much to Alec.

Before 1 could press the point, Sellick reappeared wearing a
velvet smoking jacket and urged us to take our seats. An old,
stooping Madeiran brought a carafe of white wine, then wheeled
in a trolley bearing our first course.
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Alec and I were hungry after our walk: we ate and drank with
relish, while Sellick nibbled and sipped, savouring our enjoyment
as much as the food itself. It was all delicious: deep-sea scabbard
fish, sliced and swimming in a tantalizing cucumber sauce; skew-
ered beef, flavoured with laurel and accompanied by the pick of
those famous vegetable rows; rich, golden pudim; white, creamy
goat’s cheese. We progressed through a smooth, ruby red ddo to
coffee and a potent liqueur.

“Macia,” explained Sellick, “is a Camachan speciality: fiery
aguardente mellowed by honey from local hives.”

“Talking of local specialities,” I said, “I was looking at Alec’s
article on 1792 madeira. Is there really any left?”

“Who knows?” said Sellick with a smile. “It is recorded that
Dr. Grabham, a local English resident, had some—and drank
1it—as recently as 1933. He married a member of the Blandy
family, thus acquiring a dowry of the 1792 vintage. In all proba-
bility the last of it went with his passing.”

“A pity,” I said.

“Yet reassuring,” Sellick replied, “in the sense that such is-
sues—what became of an old cache of wine?—constitute the his-
tory of this little island. It may be frustrating for Alec in his
search for articles, or disappointing for an historian such as your-
self, but it is comforting for a South African to live where there is
no history of violence and discord.”

“I don’t find the history of Madeira disappointing,” I said. “It
seems fascinating—full of exiles and romantics.”

“Ah yes, those footnotes to history that are often as interest-
ing as the main theme. But perhaps that’s rather an old-fashioned
attitude.”

“Not in my view. I don’t think history should be so...so cere-
bral. After all, it’s only about people—greater folk and lesser
folk—and what they’ve done. If history becomes more sophisti-
cated than they were, it’s missing the point.”

“Excellent,” nodded Sellick. “You're clearly a man after my
own heart. I've long suspected that most scholarship is geared to
the career of the scholar, not the enlightenment of his subject.”

“Well, that’s bound to be so,” I conceded. “Only less than
dedicated scholars could put it the other way round and they, like
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me, wouldn’t have the energy or the opportunity to pursue the
study.”

“Not under any circumstances?”

“Probably not. There’s no room left for novelty in history. It’s
all known and understood—or misunderstood. Historians these
days don’t write, they just sift the archives for refinements of ex-
isting theories.” A vein of resentment at my exclusion from the
hallowed ranks of professional historians had now become pro-
nounced. I sensed I would regret such frankness but couldn’t sup-
press it. Besides, though I was indeed to regret it, all of it, much
later, that wasn’t the reason. There was another sensation I chose
to disregard—the feeling I was being led, slowly but firmly, where
I couldn’t say, but in some specific direction.

“But,” said Sellick, “if there were something new or mysteri-
ous, wouldn’t that overcome the objection?”

“It might provide the energy, but what about the opportu-
nity?”

“That would surely be created if the mystery were suffi-
ciently fascinating.”

“Possibly, but the hypothesis rests on the existence of such a
mystery. And I would contend that the scholars solved all the re-
maining mysteries a long time ago.”

“Surely not. You also said that history was about people.
Think of the thousands of names recorded in the history books,
never mind the millions who aren’t. There must be mysteries ga-
lore there.”

“Yes, but those mysteries only exist because nobody’s thought
them worth solving.”

“And what would make a mystery worth solving?”

“Well, if it concerned somebody significant, or changed the
way we thought about them or their period.”

“And where could there be such a mystery left?”

“Where indeed?” I intended the question to be rhetorical and
the silence that followed seemed to confirm that we’d reached the
end of our little flight of fancy. But as the smoke from Sellick’s ci-
gar climbed lazily towards the ceiling, it became apparent that we
were to fly higher yet.

“How about here, Martin,” Sellick said with a smile, “in this
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house, where we sit eating and drinking, in the middle of a
mystery?”

What mystery was this? My mind cast about for an answer,
but there was none. I was a stranger there, so everything was new
to me, but scarcely mysterious. I recalled the framed photograph
of Asquith’s Cabinet as the oddest thing I'd so far come across and
my eyes flicked up to it in its place on the wall. Sellick, sitting
with his back to the picture, must have guessed what I was look-
ing at.

“That photograph 1s part of our little local mystery,” he said.
“As an historian, Martin, do you know what it 1s?”

An opportunity to display my erudition drew me on. “Yes,” 1
said. “I saw it before dinner. It’s a group portrait of Asquith’s
Cabinet. I've seen it reproduced before but never a contemporary
print.”

“And do you know who they all are?”

“Not offhand. Asquith himself, LLloyd George and Churchill
are easy. As for the rest, it’s difficult to put names to faces.”

“There’s no need, 1t’s done for us. Alec, would you mind
handing it down to me?”

Alec rose and took the picture down from the wall. He
handed it to Sellick, who turned it over and showed me the back
by the light of the candle. In a firm, copperplate hand, there was
written a date: 1st May 1908, which had been underlined. Be-
neath that, in two groups, there was a list of names which I recog-
nised as members of the cabinet. From the positions of the three
faces I'd so far identified, I deduced that the separate groups rep-
resented front and rear rows in the photograph. Recalling that
Campbell-Bannerman, Asquith’s predecessor as Prime Minister,
had died sometime in 1908, I took the picture to be commem-
orative of the new premiership. My eyes ran along the names
in the front row—the Marquess of Crewe, D. Lloyd George,
the Marquess of Ripon, Lord Loreburn, H.H. Asquith, Lord
Tweedmouth, Sir Edward Grey—and alighted upon an oddity.
Between Grey and R.B. Haldane, no name figured, merely the
one letter I or possibly the number 1. I remarked on it to Sellick.
“What does it mean?” I asked.

“It’s in the front row of names, is it not?” he replied. I
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agreed. “How many are in that row?” I counted the faces on the
photograph—there were nine. “And how many are listed?” I
counted again—only eight.

“Of course,” I said. “It’s the pronoun I. Then this was
written—and owned?—by a member of the Cabinet.”

“Quite so.”

I turned back to the photograph and focussed on the uniden-
tified face between Grey and Haldane. A tall, broad-shouldered
figure, handsome with a hint of arrogance in his features set off
by a dashing moustache and a firm set to the jaw, younger than
most of the others pictured but wearing the same sober morning
dress, yet contriving nevertheless to project enterprise and initia-
tive. I glanced along the row to Lloyd George—the shorter and
stockier of the two—mnoting that both had a brightness of eye and
a keenness of bearing that set them apart from most of their col-
leagues, crusty veterans, I guessed, of Gladstone’s days. This was
as much as I could make out by candlelight and sepia, but I was
annoyed that I couldn’t put a name to this particular face. I looked
to Sellick for a clue and wasn’t disappointed.

“Who 1s he, Martin, our mystery man? A promising Young
Turk given his first taste of power?”

“I'm not sure. It’s hardly my period. What was his post?”

“He was Asquith’s new blood in the Home Office,” replied
Sellick with a twinkle in his eye. If T hadn’t been so preoccupied
with identification, I’d have taken more notice of Sellick’s famil-
iarity with Edwardian politics and perhaps concluded that he was
either more of an historian than he’d given me to understand or
less disinterested in our subject than his manner suggested. As it
was, I was busy with a mental roll-call of politicians of the time.

“Surely,” I ventured, “Asquith’s Home Secretary was Herbert
Gladstone—son of W.E.—and he was succeeded by Churchill...
No, I'm wrong. Didn’t Asquith ship Gladstone off as Governor-
General somewhere when he came to office?”

“Quite right,” said Sellick. “To Canada, in point of fact, thus
making way for?”

I was there at last and just as well, for Sellick’s smile was be-
coming slightly pained at the edges.

“A man by the name of Strafford. But that’s literally all I
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know of him—a few years of office, then nothing—a little-
known figure hard to recall amid so many famous names.”

“Little-known indeed,” said Sellick, “but in his day far from
it. And not so hard to recall for those of us who live in his house.”

“This 1s his house?”

“It was. Edwin Strafford retired here from England and died
in 1951. I bought it at an auction after his death and fell in love
with the place. Then I began to sift through what was left here
and found many interesting curios, like this photograph. When I
realized that Strafford had been a British Cabinet minister—
which nobody here knew, or told me if they did—I found what I
could about him in the history books. That was precious little, but
what there was formed our domestic mystery.”

The historian’s curiosity in me had been aroused. It didn’t
surprise me that I should be ignorant of the life of such a man,
but the opportunity to learn something about it in such unlikely
surroundings was not to be missed.

“What is the mystery?” I asked. We had come to the nub.

“Put Martin out of his misery, L.eo,” said Alec helpfully. “You
know you're dying to.”

“Very well,” said Sellick. “You will have to tell me, Martin, if
this interests you as an historian. As a man, it interests me
deeply.” He paused to sip his coffee, then began.

“As I say, there 1s not much in the history books about Edwin
Strafford. The Dictionary of National Biography devotes less
than a column to him. He was born in 1876, the son of an officer
in the Indian Army. He went to Cambridge, then—briefly—to
South Africa as a junior staff officer in the Boer War. He returned
to England to fight his home constituency in Devon for the
Liberals at the 1900 election and won, against the national trend.
Then he climbed slowly but surely through the ranks of his party
and became a junior minister when the Liberals came to power in
1905. When Asquith became Premier in 1908 he reshuffled his
Cabinet and appointed Strafford Home Secretary at the age of
thirty-two. It was a remarkable but short-lived rise. Two years
later, Strafford resigned without explanation and disappeared vir-
tually overnight—from the public eye at any rate. He left
Parliament and became a totally private citizen—soon, a totally
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forgotten one also. He served throughout the First World War in
the army, then took the post of British Consul here on Madeira.
Later he bought this house and the quinta. He retired from the
Consulate in 1946 and died five years later. End of story.”

Sellick paused for effect. This was clearly not the end of the
story.

“Beginning of mystery,” put in Alec.

“That’s right,” resumed Sellick. “I found what little I could
glean from the history books about Strafford not so much disap-
pointing as wholly unsatisfactory. How could a man rise so
swiftly—presumably on merit—then quite simply vanish with-
out trace and, what’s more, without apparent reason? One is fa-
miliar with scandal and failure in politics, but Strafford is tainted
with neither. The passing mentions of his actions during two
years in office—difficult years of Suffragette and trade union
unrest—are, at worst, neutral, sometimes laudatory. The only
reason he is not given more extensive treatment is that he did not
proceed with a political career like his contemporaries. It is as if
Churchill or Lloyd George—of the same generation, both also
promoted by Asquith—resigned abruptly in 1910, before either
won fame as leaders of their country in war. Would that not seem
surpassingly odd?”

“With hindsight, it would in their cases,” I put in. “But who
can say what Strafford might or might not have achieved if he
hadn’t resigned?”

“Precisely,” said Sellick. “No-one can say. It is a mystery. And
the fundamental mystery 1s why a talented, ambitious man in the
prime of life chose to achieve nothing when he could have
achieved so much.”

“Perhaps he simply lost interest in politics,” I proffered. “Or
perhaps he found the public eye not to his taste. It’s been known.”

“True, very true,” Sellick replied weightily. “And those were
my thoughts too—an enfant terrible who burnt himself out for
some prosaic reason. It seemed a pity.”

Sellick rose from his chair and moved to replace the picture
on the wall. He did so with reverential care, while I pondered the
past tense in his last remark and waited for the next.

“It seemed a pity and it was not so,” Sellick continued, re-
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suming his seat. “As it turned out, I had been wasting my time
burrowing in the reference books. I had ignored what that picture
should have told me, that the answer—albeit an incomplete
one—was here all the time.

“There’s a fine old wooden desk in what was Strafford’s
study—TI'll show 1t you later, preferably in daylight. When I was
turning it out, I found in one of the drawers a large, handsomely
bound volume, filled—Dbut for a few pages—with writing in the
same hand as that on the back of the photograph.”

“What was 1t?”

“Strafford’s Memoir—compiled here 1n his retirement. It’s a
highly personal statement of how he came to be buried in the
diplomatic service in such an obscure spot.”

“Does it explain the mystery?”

“Far from it. It heightened the mystery, for Strafford does
not—cannot—explain it. He recounts the circumstances of his
exile, but they baffled him as much as they still baffle me.”

“This sounds extraordinary.”

“By any standards.”

“May I see the Memoir?”

“Certainly. I will fetch it now. Can I suggest that we take this
opportunity of retiring to the drawing room?”

There was no dissent. Sellick led us back through the hall to
the drawing room, where the lamps had been lit in readiness for
us. He went on through another door, asking Alec to pour me a
drink while he fetched the Memoir.

Alec handed me another macia. “Interested?” he enquired.

“Very. It’s not every day one gets to see a primary source like
this.”

“There speaks the true historian.”

“Have you seen 1t?”

“Yes, but not read it. L.eo’s never been so forward with it be-
fore. Maybe he thinks he’s found somebody to appreciate it.”

Was Alec becoming sarcastic under the influence of several
drinks? I’d no time to ponder the point, for Sellick returned al-
most at once, carrying a marbled, leather-bound tome. He waved
us into deep armchairs facing the fireplace and stood, one foot on
the fender, holding the book before him.
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“It’s a fair old read,” he said, “a mix of diary and recollection.
There’s some irrelevant material, interesting in its own right but
not strictly germane. Yet it confirms throughout that Strafford’s
exit from politics in 1910—and the events leading up to it—con-
stituted the great disappointment of his life, in more ways than
one. If you're sufficiently interested, Martin, I’d like you to read
it and give me your opinion.”

“I'd like to very much.” My enthusiasm was genuine. As a
student, I'd never excelled at wading through arid source docu-
ments, but there had never existed the motivation to do so, never
the expectation of discovering something new or fascinating as a
result. Sellick had promoted this document so well I could hardly
have borne not to read it. There was, however, more promotion to
come yet.

“This 1s probably no time for considered appraisal,” Sellick
said. “I hope Alec told you that you would be most welcome to re-
main here tonight. I would suggest that a reading of this could
best be undertaken in the morning with a clear head. But never
fear”—he had seen me framing a protest at this delay—*“I will
not leave you to lose sleep over the contents. I will tell you what I
have already learnt from them. Then you will be able to judge for
yourself whether mine seem appropriate conclusions.”

Sellick sat beneath a standard lamp to the right of the fire-
place and leafed through the book, cradled in his lap, as he spoke.
“Strafford was the youngest of Asquith’s protegés and easily the
most handsome. He was also unattached. He was, therefore, the
eligible bachelor par excellence. He had the pick of a dozen well-
connected young Liberal ladies. Yet his choice fell elsewhere and—
for an Edwardian Home Secretary—it fell perversely. Strafford
met and came to love a young Suffragette—a captivating crea-
ture, 1t would seem, but scarcely the ideal bride. These were sen-
sitive times for politicians in their private lives. Lloyd George was
forever courting disaster with extra-marital adventures and mere
divorce had ruined more than one politician. So how could a
Home Secretary whose government resisted female suffrage con-
sider marrying a militant young proponent of that cause?”

“Difficult,” I agreed.

“But not impossible, if he was prepared to pay the price.
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Morally, he could not be reproached. All such a marriage would
do 1s embarrass the government. So, being an honourable man,
Strafford proposed to abandon his political career for the woman
he loved, who, in turn, undertook to detach herself from the
Suffragette cause and become a devoted wife. But the path of
honour did not bring him salvation. His plan was unimpeach-
able, yet its execution went awry in the most mysterious manner.
Strafford submitted his resignation, intending that it should im-
mediately be followed by an announcement of his engagement.
But no such announcement could be made because, but a few
hours after delivering his letter of resignation to 10 Downing
Street, he was rejected in the most outright terms by his fiancée.
She renounced their engagement for reasons she refused to dis-
close and asked that Strafford should never attempt to see her
again. He was devastated.”

“As well he might be,” I said. “Why did she do 1t?”

“Strafford never knew. Shattered as he was by his rejection,
all he could do at the time was attempt to re-build his way of life,
which he had been so busily demolishing. The day after his resig-
nation, he called again at number 10, intending to rescind it.”

“Intending?”

“Yes, but 1t was not to be. The Prime Minister refused to hear
of it, though not because he felt he was being trifled with, nor be-
cause he disapproved of Strafford’s now aborted marriage. He
cited other reasons which he declined to specify but which he felt
sure Strafford could guess. Actually, he could not. This was a sec-
ond inexplicable rejection from a source which had hitherto
shown him only favour. Strafford was beside himself with despair.
He brooded over it endlessly. It became the tragedy and the mys-
tery of his life, and prompted him to compile this Memoir, many
years later, when at last he could bear to commit it to paper.”

“That could be the sort of mystery we spoke about earlier.”

“I think it 1s, Martin—a mystery worthy of an historian such
as yourself. Which is why I was delighted to hear you were to visit
Alec, who spoke so highly of your abilities.”

I glanced quizzically at Alec. This was the second time I'd
heard of his advance publicity for me. “I know what you're
thinking,” he said, forestalling me. “But do you seriously suppose
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I would have spoken well of you if I’d thought it would get back
to you? Leo’s betrayed my confidence.” He turned to the old man
with mock outrage.

“Let us close with a smile,” said Sellick. “It is late and I must
take these tired old bones to bed. Here is the Memoir, Martin”—
he handed me the heavy volume—“for you to peruse at your
leisure. Take my advice and leave it till morning—1I’d value your
opinion on it both as an historical document and as a personal tes-
tament. But then, we’d probably agree that they’re the same thing
anyway. The room next to the one you always have, Alec, has been
prepared for Martin. I trust I can leave you to show him up when
you're ready. Now I must bid you goodnight. Sleep well.”

With that, Sellick left us. Alec poured himself another drink
and we fell to a desultory discussion about the warmth of our re-
ception. I detected in Alec’s manner a slight sourness, though
whether this arose from boredom, having heard the story before,
or from some resentment that I’d monopolised Sellick’s attention,
I couldn’t say. Alec himself denied the former and I dismissed the
latter as an unworthy suspicion, but I was relieved when he did
not demur at showing me up to my room.

Once there, I moved to the window and opened it. The shut-
ters had been thrown back in readiness and I sniffed the cool
night air wafting in across the garden behind the house. I'd hoped
it might refresh me enough to turn to the Memoir that night, but
Sellick had been right—it deserved a clear, wakeful head. So I
confined myself to a glance at the title page in bed. One short
paragraph served as prologue to the Memoir proper.

“In this volume I, Edwin George Strafford, propose to set
forth the peculiar circumstances of my life and career. As a study
in hubris, it may serve as a consolation for my soul and a conces-
sion to undeserving posterity.”

There followed, in quotation marks, four lines of poetry:

Since as a child I used to lie

Upon the leaze and watch the sky,

Never, I own, expected 1

That life would all be fair.

I took this to be some epigrammatic borrowing from a
favourite poet of Strafford’s, but he was not named. It put me
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vaguely in mind of A.E. Housman; certainly it had his fatalistic
air. But I was tired and these thoughts were best left for morning.
I laid the book aside and turned out the light.

I woke quite suddenly, stirred by some sound from the garden. I
rose and stumbled to the window, squinting out at the glaring
light of a perfect Madeiran day. Below, I could see at work the
aged gardener who’d woken me. Checking my watch, 1 was dis-
mayed to see that it was already past nine o’clock. So I bathed and
dressed hurriedly and headed downstairs, taking the Memoir
with me.

In the drawing room, the french windows stood open and, on
the verandah, I found Sellick sitting by a breakfast table, sipping
coffee, with a sheaf of papers on his lap. He smiled a greeting.

“Good morning, Martin. I trust you slept well?”

“Thank you, yes. Perhaps too well.”

“Certainly not. You are, after all, on holiday. Sit down, relax.
Tomas can fix you some breakfast in no time.”

“Nothing for me, thanks. But some of that coffee would go
down well.”

Sellick poured me some from the pot. “You've missed Alec, I
fear. He’ll be back some time this afternoon. 1 felt sure that I
could keep you occupied until his return—or, rather, that Mr.
Strafford could.” He leant forward and patted the Memoir where
it lay on the table. “Have you made a start?”

“Not in earnest. I thought you were right about tackling it
this morning. I've only glanced at the title page, which doesn’t
suggest it’s a happy chronicle.”

“One could not, in all honesty, call Strafford a happy man, as
you will see. But I'm glad you haven’t started reading the Memoir
yet, Martin, because before you do—bearing in mind what I told
you about it last night—1I have a proposition to put which might
nterest you.”

“You have?”

“Yes. Now, don’t feel that I'm prying into your affairs, but I
understand from Alec that you're not presently in any form of
employment.”
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“That’s true.” Again, here was evidence of Alec making free
with his knowledge of my affairs. It was a development I didn’t
care for.

“Taking that into consideration, along with your undoubted
abilities as an historian, I may be able to offer you an engagement
both financially lucrative and intellectually stimulating.”

“You're offering me a job?” I was frankly incredulous.

“In short, I am. I have told you what I have learnt of the
Strafford mystery, that the Memoir does nothing to dispel it, only
increase 1t. There 1s no more to be discovered here. I feel the an-
swer must lie in England. I am too old and too busy to go in
search of it. Besides, I would not know where to begin what 1s es-
sentially an exercise in historical research. But time and youth
are on your side and I can supply the money. How would you
like the task of finding out who—or what—betrayed Strafford in
191027

My incredulity was surpassed by my enthusiasm. A voice in-
side me said “Grab this offer—before it’s taken back.” The re-
search task sounded interesting in its own right and the money
that went with it could solve all my problems. But I didn’t want to
seem over-eager. Only that, not suspicion, stayed my hand.

“It sounds fascinating—and very generous.”

“Not at all. I would finance you to find out what I want to
know. If, coincidentally, you want to know it too, so much the
better. But don’t give me your answer now—take a look at the
Memoir first, then see how you feel.”

“Okay—you can’t say fairer than that.”

“Good. I'm glad you agree. And now, if you'll excuse me, I
have some business to attend to. You would be most welcome to
lunch with me later.”

“Thanks. See you later, then.”

Sellick made off with his papers, Tomas came and cleared the
table and then I was left alone on the verandah with the Memoir.
The sloping garden was shimmering in a heat haze as I settled
back in my chair and began to read. It was time to let Strafford
have his say.



MEMOIR

1876—1900

was not born under a benighted star. I need protest no fault or

handicap in the circumstances or the manner of my upbringing.
I entered this life on 20 April 1876 at Barrowteign, my father’s
house in Devon. He was delighted to have a second son to brighten
his old age, though I believe myy mother had hoped for a daughter.

Barrowteign was a joy to be a child in—such a large, rambling
house so filled with the memorabilia of vy father’s military career,
such firm yet loving parents and necessartly indulgent servants,
such extensive grounds of forest and moor for my boisterous yet
protective brother Robert (six years my senior) to instruct me in,
that I could not, for all the world, contrive a better place for a boy to
learn Iis first of life.

My father was born in the same year as Queen Victoria and
spent the middle third of his life defending her overseas possessions,
notably India, where his conspicuous contribution to putting down
the Mutiny won him his colonelcy. As a result, he was oft-times
away from his beloved Barrowteign, that grand stone house that his
Jfather, old “Brewer” Strafford from Credition, built as a monument
to his own undoubted industry. It was, my father often told me, a
disappointment to the founder of our family fortunes—uwhose start
in life was, after all, hard and long work on that cloying red soil by
the river Yeo—that his son should disdain the brewery office and
take instead the King’s Shilling. But, as his son’s military career
prospered in foreign parts, it may have bolstered his reputation in
the locality and I like to think that he basked in a certain reflected
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glory when my father’s distinguished conduct in the Crimea and in
India became known.

My grandfather died in 1867 and it was only this that
prompted my father to retire from the army and return home.
When he did so, he at once disposed of an active interest in the brew-
ing business and, with hardly less speed, married the daughter of a
local doctor—my mother, who was then only 23 and found herself
quite bowled over by the handsome colonel of nearly fifty who, if
the truth were told, was much more nervous than she about the
whole affair, having imagined during his years abroad that he
would remain a bachelor to the end of his days, and being more
used to commanding men than courting ladies. The match, however,
was a blissfully happy one.

1 passed mvy carefree childhood at Barrowteign in perfect con-
tentment, my father re-living the battles of his youth in play as
surely only an old soldier can, my mother reminding me of the
bloodshed which my father had also seen and chosen not to mention,
my brother leading forays out onto the adjacent moorland, where
we waged our own mock battles amongst the tors and bracken.
These were confined to holidays when he went away to school—
Marlborough, when he was eleven. I followed him at the same age.

Childers, that Classics master whom many Marlburians will
remember with awe, selected me as a promising pupil and ensured
that my promaise, such as it may have been, was fulfilled. My father
thought it a signal honour and my mother a just reward that I won
a scholarship to Trinity College, Cambridge, in 1894.

It was my active participation in the debates and functions of
the Union Society that first drew me towards politics as a career.
I saw the Union as a flawed but not unworthy re-creation of the
Greek demos and looked towards Westminster in the same way. My
naivety now astounds me, but, at the time, it ensured that my ener-
gies in that direction were undimmed by caution or reservation.

During my second summer vacation, I intimated my sense of
vocation to my family, who supported my endeavours with all the
wholeheartedness I had come to expect. My brother Robert was now
effectively head of the household by reason of my father’s age and
infirmity and was fast establishing a reputation of his own as a
breeder of cattle. My father had been for some years an alderman
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of Okehampton and these factors facilitated my early introduction
to Sir William Oliphant, the sitting Member for Mid-Devon. He
had been in Parliament at this time for more than forty years and
had already indicated that he did not propose to stand for re-
election. It was my great good fortune that Sir William’s recom-
mendation, the standing of our family in the county and whatever
Jfame L won as President of the Union in my last year at Cambridge
sufficed to secure my selection as prospective Liberal candidate in
the constituency. With the next general election due in 1902, I felt
that I had a good chance of so nurturing my prospects that I might
then join the august assembly at Westminster as Mid-Devon’s rep-
resentative.

1 came down from Cambridge in 1897 with a good degree and
accompanied my mother on a six-month tour of France and the
Mediterranean. It was, I think, a great joy for her to be shown the
historical and artistic treasures of Italy and Greece by her favoured
son. It was in Rome that we encountered a college friend of mine:
Gerald Couchman, who had been rusticated during our last year
for pauperizing a fellow-student in a card game. Couch (as we
called him) was one of those fine, rumbustious high-livers whose
morals bore no close inspection but whose spirit and company were
alike irresistible. I paid no heed to his somewhat ruthless style of
gambling—his own finances being precarious and his victims gen-
erally better endowed with wealth than good sense, it struck me as
no great crime—ybut our tutor, the narrow-minded Threlfall, con-
cetved a great personal dislike for Couch, who obliged him by sail-
ing rather close to the wind. In the incident for which he was
punished, Couch had no idea how ill could his opponent afford to
lose. I believe that, when this finally became known to him, he
waived the debt, too late to appease the wrath of Threlfall. So
Couch’s studies stood suspended for a year, during which time we
met him whiling away his days in Rome, where he had secured an
obscure teaching appointment and where his gambling adventures
went unmonitored.

If like attracts unlike, I suppose my friendship with Couch
could be said to exemplify that tendency. In indulging and secretly
applauding his scapegrace ways, I perhaps compensated for that
probity and respectability which, as a budding politician, I had to
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be seen to embrace but which occasionally sat ill with my youthful
exuberance. Even my mother confessed to enjoying Couch’s com-
pany in Rome and tolerated in him greater laxity than she would
condone in others.

Couch went back to Cambridge and I went back to Devon, to be
seen at shows and sales with my brother, meeting local residents in
the company of my father (who appeared to see my election as his
last great military campaign) and speaking at meetings with Sir
William. The Liberal Party was then, in all conscience, at sixes and
sevens, still striving to adjust to the retirement of Mr. Gladstone.
Indeed, in three short years we had three different leaders—
Rosebery, Harcourt and Campbell-Bannerman—a helter-skelter
progression which convinced Sir William that he had left his own
retirement too late and which infused me with no very great confi-
dence in the leadership of the party to which I was now committed.
Not that there had ever been any question of my joining the
Conservatives. On all issues of substance—free trade, Ireland, the
Empire, the House of Lords—I was firmly of the Liberal mind, but
such volatility at the helm was a trifle disconcerting. It was my
brother, ever a good judge of land, who pointed out to me how it lay
in this regard. For, as he said, a time of flux was ideal for a young
hopeful to win his spurs.

In the short term, what was needed was patience. And just as,
kicking my heels at Barrowteign, I began to exhaust mine, Gerald
Couchman came to my rescue. In the surmmer of 1898, he at last
graduated from Cambridge and took up residence in London as a
young man about town, living with an indulgent aunt in St. John’s
Wood. He invited me to stay with him there awhile and, since this
would enable me to follow events in Parliament at first hand, I was
encouraged to go. In the event, my visits became frequent and
lengthy, so delightfully open-handed was Couch’s aunt in the ac-
commodation of guests. Her nephew led me into bad habits with a
cheery smile, but I refrained from his worst excesses and kept my
ear close to the ground at Westmuinster, where my time was well-
spent.

But not, alas, reassuringly spent. There was perceptible during
the spring and summer of 1899 a drift to war with the Boer republics
of Transvaal and the Orange Free State that appeared, to me at any
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rate, to possess an inevitability borne of the most extreme and swag-
gering nationalism amongst the populace of London (and, I have
little doubt, of Pretoria too). The low halls and taverns which Couch
sometimes induced me to visit generally rebounded at this time with
the most unreasoning war sentiment and caused me to doubt, for the
Sfirst time, my faith in the demos. It becamne clear that the Liberal
Party would be divided should war come. Campbell-Bannerman
and Lloyd George opposed hostilities and came to be roundly
abused for their pains; Asquith and the former leader, Rosebery,
supported them.

My position was equivocal, which met with Sir William’s ap-
proval but which considerably put out my father, who judged that
methods employed against the sepoys in 1857 should be followed
against the Boers in 1899; in vain did I seek to dissuade him. It
was Couch who convinced me that one could carry reason too
far, never being one to do so himself We were seated at Lord’s one
day in June—watching Victor Trumper score a century for the
Australians—when we fell to discussing what we should do in the
event of war. Couch was all for enlisting at once and sampling
the excitement of action. The subtleties of the dispute were of no in-
terest to him where an opportunity for overseas adventure was con-
cerned. To a great extent, he won me over. If war did come, I felt
sure that an election would be delayed, not hastened, so time was
likely to hang heavy if I stayed at home. There seemed, moreover,
no substitute for first-hand experience upon which to base my own
view of the matter. Accordingly, we pledged, as only young men
can, to enlist together.

Forwutously, my father was not unacquainted with General
Buller, the Commander-in-Chief, whose career had started in India
Just as my father’s was coming to fruition there and whose family
home was near Crediton. Through his good offices, Couch and 1
were admitted that summer to the volunteer reserve of the
Devonshire regiment. When war did break out, in October, we were
gazetted second lieutenants.

So it was that, on October 11, we set sail from Southampton with
General Buller and the rest of the regiment, bound for Capetown.
Aboard, I encountered amongst our fellow-passengers that youth-

ful veteran of Omdurman, Winston Churchill, like me set upon a
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political career, but (at this stage) in the Conservative interest. He
was going to South Africa as a reporter for the Morning Post and
little did I think that I would one day sit in Cabinet with him.

We reached Capetown at the end of October amidst a scene of
some consternation, the Boers having by now invested Kimberley
and Mafeking and, shortly thereafter, Ladysmith. Even to a novice
such as I then was, there was a lack of conviction in the dispositions
made by General Buller to cope with this emergency. He split his
force into three and sought to raise all three sieges at once, a division
of effort which proved disastrous. Couch and I accompanied Buller
as junior adjutants north towards Ladysmith. I confess that I for
one was so busily engaged in adapting to the military life in a
strange country that I had little time to spare for assessing our strat-
egy, but my instinct that it was miswrought proved sound. Buller
convinced himself that the Boer forces around Ladysmith were too
strong for him to lift the siege and he was right. But news of
Gatacre’s defeat at Stormberg and Methuen’s at Magersfontein
stung him into a frontal assault upon the Boer positions at Colenso
on the Tugela River on December 15, only three days after report-
ing that a direct attack would prove too costly. That cost was a com-
prehensive defeat, a thousand men dead, his own command forfeited
and the creation in the public mind at home of the doleful phenom-
enon of “Black Week,” which stilled, for a moment, the bellicose
clamour of the music halls.

Unhappily, the defeat at Colenso carried a bitter personal les-
son for me. A battlefield far from home is no place to learn that one’s
trusted friend is a coward, but this conclusion was forced upon me
by Gerald Couchman’s conduct that day. In an action to save the ten
guns that were ultimately lost, Buller took a personal hand and,
therefore, we adjutants with him. In this action, the general was
himself wounded and the only son of Lord Roberts was killed. I did
what little I could with what fortitude I could muster, but Couch
held back and, in an incident overlooked by all but me, quitted the
scene in a craven act of self-preservation. I did not despise him for it,
Sfor any sane man would have felt fear that day, but I was chastened
to learn that he could leave my side at such a crucial time. I did not
reproach him afterwards, yet he knew that I had seen, and matters
were never again the same between us.
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When Lord Roberts was appointed as the new C-in-C, Buller
despatched Couch and me to Capetown to await his arrival and per-
Sform what services we could in a staff capacity. We passed a long,
stlent, grudging journey back, Couch perhaps appalled by his own
discovery about himself, perhaps resenting my silence as a re-
minder of it, I saying too little for fear of saying too much and re-
flecting that perchance the censorious Threlfall had been right all
along. It might have cheered us to know that Colenso was the first
and last action either of us was to see in South Africa. It might, but I
must take leave to doubt it.

Lord Roberts reached Capetown in the middle of January
1900, with the redoubtable Kitchener as his chief of staff. He at once
overhauled the organization of the whole campaign and it was this
greater attention to matters of supply, transport and communica-
tion that not only effected a transformation of the army’s fortunes
but also detained me in the Cape for the rest of my time in South
Africa. My political reputation, such as it was, had evidently gone
before me, for I was directed to devote some of my time—when it
was not consumed in ordinary staff duties—to a tentative explo-
ration of popular feeling in the Cape, most especially to a cultiva-
tion of the Dutch community, with an assurance of happy internal
relations, when the war was over, the ultimate objective. I made lit-
tle enough progress in this direction, but did what I could and al-
ways found contact with the citizenry of the Cape—its elected
representatives, its magistrates and landowners, its journalists and
businessmen—interesting and instructive. Couch was, at this time,
engaged in the coordination of supplies, for which he developed a
forte. I will say no more than that, where the distribution of food
and equipment was concerned, he was not slow to introduce a com-
mercial element to his own advantage. At all events, we saw little of
each other at this time.

By the summer of 1900, the war seemed virtually over. Roberts
having taken Johannesburg on May 31 and Pretoria five days later,
there appeared to remain only the mopping-up of Boer resistance. It
was this swift redemption of Buller’s earlier blunderings that pre-
sumably convinced the Conservative-Unionist government at home
that the time was ripe for a general election. It seemed to me, when
1 heard of it, a simple attempt to capitalize on the victorious mood of
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the people, but it is true to say that my view may have been influ-
enced by the imminence of my candidature for Parliament, which I
had thought to be two years away and for which I was consequently
tl-prepared.

Lord Roberts showed great understanding of mvy difficulty and
sanctioned my immediate return home. Here Couch, for all that I
have said about his loss of nerve at Colenso, did me a not inconsid-
erable service. I had accepted an invitation to stay with the van der
Merwes, an influential Dutch family near Durban, as part of my
bridge-butlding exercise. Passing through Capetown in late
August, I met Couch by chance and mentioned that I would have to
disappoint the van der Merwes if I were to return to England in
time to make any kind of fist of the election, which seemed a pity,
this being the most overt hospitality I had been shown by the Dutch
community. Couch, granted leave at this slack time, when everyone
was merely awaiting the formal cessation of hostilities, volunteered
to take my place in Durban. In a role where charm counted for
much, I have little doubt that he did an excellent job.

So it was that I arrived home in England with but a week in
which to conduct my election campaign. As I might have known,
my parents and brother had already mounted a highly effective one
in my absence and it was the considered opinion of Flowers, the tac-
iturn agent whom I inherited from Sir William, that any attack
upon my party’s attitude to the war by my Conservative opponent
would be more than offset by my own record of service in South
Africa. In this he was correct. The general election of October 1900
has ever after been referred to as the “Khaki” election and if it was,
as I firmly believe, the government’s attempt to exploit their virtual
victory in South Africa, I am happy to record that it went otherwise
Sfor them in Mid-Devon.

1 shall ever recall the scene in the town hall at Okehampton in the
early hours of October 5, when the returning officer announced my
victory at the poll by a majority only a little short of that traditionally
commanded by Sir William and a throng of red-faced Devonians
toasted in cider their new young tribune. At the age of 24, I found my-
self'a member of that most exalted of democratic institutions—the
Brutish Parliament—uwith everything to look forward to.
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“Senhor Radford! Excuse the interruption: the master has asked
me to tell you that luncheon is served.”

It was old Tomas speaking, rousing me from the reverie that
had followed my completion of the first chapter of the Memoir.

“Obrigado, Tomds,” 1 said. Then, hesitantly, I sought to use a
little more of the basic Portuguese I'd gleaned from my hand-
book. “Oude fica o almogo?”

“In the morning room, senhor,” Tomas replied. “Please come
with me.”

Taking the Memoir with me, I followed him along the
verandah.

“Have you been on the island long, senhor?”

“Only a few days.”

“Then your Portuguese does you great credit.”

“Thank you for saying so. But I think your English does you
greater credit.”

“No, no, senhor. I have been here forty years and Quinta do
Porto Novo has always had a master who spoke English.
Therefore, it has not been difficult for me to learn your language,
so excellent was my teacher.”

Who'd taught him English? If Tomas had been there forty
years, it seemed he must mean Strafford.

“You worked for Senhor Strafford?”

“Yes, senhor. I had that honour.”

We'd passed through the drawing room into the hall. Tomés
led me along the gallery to a large, airy room on the western side
of the house, with picture windows overlooking the vineyard. At
one end of the room was a grand piano and, above it on the wall,
an oil painting of a savannah landscape. In the centre of the room
stood a table, laid with bowls and plates for a salad lunch. There
was an air of newness here, more of Sellick and less of Strafford.

I tried to draw Tomas out before he left me. “You admired
Senhor Strafford?”

“Senhor Strafford was a gentleman.”

“Thank you, Tomas. That will be all.” Sellick’s voice came
abruptly from behind us. Toméas nodded gravely and padded away.
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There was a hint of curtness in his dismissal, dispelled at once by
Sellick’s warmth and courtesy to me.

“I see you have the Memoir with you, Martin. Set it aside for
a moment and help yourself to some lunch. I trust you will ex-
cuse the informality of the arrangement.”

“It looks delicious. All this is really too generous of you.”

“Not at all. I have put a business proposition to you. The least
that I can do is offer some meagre hospitality whilst you con-
sider it.”

There was, needless to say, nothing meagre about his hospi-
tality. I took some grilled tuna from a platter and some of the rice,
potato and vegetable salads that accompanied it. Sellick poured
me some vinho verde and offered me a seat by the window. This
had been slid half-open to a wisp of cooling breeze in the midday
heat. Below, the vines stood in silent ranks. This was the siesta
hour and no sound broke the peace.

I’d set the Memoir down on a coffee table between us. “Have
you made much progress?” Sellick asked. “You see that I cannot
contain my curlosity.”

“I’'ve just finished the first chapter: Strafford’s just been
elected to Parliament. It’s a fascinating read.”

“I hoped that you would find it so. Has it helped you to form
a view of my earlier proposition?”

“It’s confirmed my first reaction—that I'd be delighted to ac-
cept. I feel sure it’s an opportunity I don’t deserve. But, if you're
prepared to back me, I’ll try to justify your confidence.”

“I'm most gratified to hear you say so, Martin. Let’s drink to
your investigation.”

As we touched glasses to toast our agreement, I thought of
Helen again, for the second time that morning: Helen, my dear
ex-wife. She’d always performed that ritual when wine was
served with a meal. I remembered her tight frown of annoyance
whenever I drank from the glass prematurely, now with none of
the impatience I'd have felt at the time. It was odd to think of her
with so little venom, odder still that Strafford’s college friend,
Gerald Couchman, should share her surname. For Couchman was
not a common name.

“You look pensive, Martin.”
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“The Memoir’s given me a lot to think about. To be honest, I
can’t wait to get back to it.”

“I understand and will not delay you. But before you do, you
might be interested in seeing Strafford’s study. You’ll remember 1
referred to it last night.”

“That would be very interesting.”

“Straight after lunch then.”

When we’d finished our meal, Sellick led me back to the hall
and up the stairs to a large room on the southern side of the
house. When he opened the shutters, light flooded onto a scene
that took me straight back to Strafford. Sellick explained that he
never used the room himself and had left it as it was when he ar-
rived. The view from the window was of the garden and, beyond
that, the sea. Motes of dust floated in the sunlight and the tick of
an old longcase clock by the door added to the impression of an-
other time and place. In front of the window was a large ma-
hogany leather-topped desk and, in front of that, a leather-seated,
wheelback swivel chair.

This, clearly, was the desk where Sellick had originally found
the Memoir. Either side of the inkstand were the framed photo-
graphs that must have drawn Strafford’s eye every time he sat
there. On the left was a studied portrait of a couple, the man el-
derly, with a walrus moustache but a ramrod back, the woman
middle aged and elegant—surely Strafford’s parents.

On the right was a less formal portrait of a young lady. She
wore a high-necked dress, fastened with a brooch. Her dark hair
was drawn up high and evenly from her face, with just a few
strands hanging by her cheeks. Her eyes were large, dark and in-
tent and her lips, slightly parted, seemed just about to smile. To
me, she was a stranger—or so I thought. To Strafford, she must
have meant, at some time, almost everything. That certainty
charged not only her look but the very placing of her photograph.
Strafford could have sat there and seen those eyes and, beyond,
the ocean, both so deep and distant, every day of his life on
Madeira. But only his Memoir could tell me what the frozen past
of this room never would: what he felt when he looked at the con-
fident, confiding tilt of her chin, fixed in time by the camera, or
gazed out across the placid infinity of the ocean.
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“It’s as if Strafford had just left the room,” I said at last.

“Isn’t 1t?” said Sellick. “I feared it might seem morbid to
leave 1t like this, but with so much space to spare, why not? It’s
easy to imagine him sitting at that desk.”

“I just have. Presumably, one of these pictures is of his par-
ents. What about the other one?”

“There’s really only one person it can be.”

“His fiancée?”

“That’s right: Elizabeth Latimer. My enquiries have revealed
that she is still alive in England, under her married name of
Couchman... You look surprised, Martin.”

“The name...Then she ...”

“Married Gerald Couchman. That’s right. But I'm sorry. 1
really shouldn’t give so much away like this. Still, you must have
wondered why Strafford made such a point of that friendship.”

I had, and this explained it. But it wasn’t the irony of
Strafford losing his fiancée to his discredited former friend that
dismayed me, though I was happy for Sellick to think that it was.
It was the echo in my own past that his words caused. No longer
was there just a coincidence of surnames. Seven years before, at
my own wedding, I’d met the redoubtable Elizabeth Couchman,
Helen’s grandmother, then a hale old widow of eighty, and still, it
appeared, alive and well. It was the achievement of her genera-
tion of Couchmans that made my marriage the social coup my
family thought it was and which, in the end, helped to unmake it.
Now, in Strafford’s study on Madeira, I encountered my ex-wife’s
grandmother as the beautiful young Edwardian lady she once
was and the woman who won—and broke—the heart of a fa-
mous man.

After dismay came caution. It was still possible—just—that
this wasn’t the person I thought. But if it was, how would Sellick
react to my connection with a family that was to form part of my
investigations? Not well, my instincts told me. And they went fur-
ther: don’t risk this golden opportunity, don’t tell him. So I didn’t.

“It makes 1t all the sadder,” I said. “That and the atmosphere
of this room.”

“Yes,” said Sellick. “There are so many echoes.”

For a moment, I was alarmed. Had he found me out? No. How
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could he? There were echoes enough of Strafford’s past without
him needing to guess at those of mine—weren’t there?

“I know what you mean.” The truth was, I hoped I knew
what he meant. “In fact, the Memoir seems so much more real
here—more immediate—that I'd like to stay to read it, if that’s
all right.”

“By all means, Martin. Stay as long as you like. I’ll make sure
you're not disturbed. I hope, though, that you’ll join me for an
aperitif before dinner. Alec’s sure to be back by then.”

“Thanks. I'd like to.”

Sellick left then, closing the door behind him. I sat at the desk
and looked out across the garden and the valley towards the sea,
then back at the picture of that face and those eyes, imagining
Strafford doing the same. I opened the Memoir and looked at his
firm, assured handwriting, betraying nothing, no sign, no quaver,
that might tell me the message those eyes held for him. There
was only one way to find out. Eagerly, I resumed my reading.



MEMOIR

1900—1Q0Q

Parliamemf was due to assemble in early December 1900. By
then, I had recovered somewhat from the euphoria of election
night and had taken rooms in Pimlico, so as to be handily placed for
Westminster. Sir William had kindly arranged my introduction to
some of the leading figures of the party and my brother had quietly
assured me of such financial support as might be necessary in the
straitened circumstances of a fledgling M.P.

I had supposed that, in the Parliamentary Liberal Party, I
would rejoice in the company of enlightened, like-minded men
steering a straight course for the betterment of their country. I soon
discovered that such a rosy view could not be sustained when I actu-
ally joined their ranks. I knew, of course, that the war had created a
division of opinion. What I did not know, but sought rapidly to as-
similate, was that on virtually no point was there universal agree-
ment, that many of the disagreements had more to do with personal
enmities than issues of principle and that possibly the only uniting

Jactor was an interest by individuals in cultivating a political ca-
reer. Such and swift was the disenchantment of the new M.P. for
Mid-Devon.

But I must not do an injustice to the many able men whom I en-
countered at Westminster. Campbell-Bannerman, the leader, was a
tough old Scottish Liberal who at once surprised me by his radical-
ism. He seemed determined to soldier on despite the mutterings of
those who thought him mediocre. I was often told how we should re-
vert to Rosebery or plump for Asquith as leader but, as a young and
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impressionable man imbued by my father with a respect for older
generations, I unhesitatingly aligned myself behind C-B.

The only issue on which we might have differed was the war.
But my experiences in South Africa had not endeared me to our
cause in that conflict. My latter days there, spent as they were more
amongst the local populace than the military, had filled me with
great respect for their robust desire for independence and 1 felt sure,
as did C-B, that the correct Liberal line was to deplore a piece of
heavy-handed colonialism. In taking this view, I found an enthusi-
astic welcome in that most fiery spirit of the party—ILloyd George,
whose accounts of speaking against the war in public almost per-
suaded me that I had had a softer time of it at Colenso.

Lloyd George was an inspiration. Not that much older than me,
he embodied what seemed the youthful promise of the party.
Instead of the non-committal crustiness I found in older members,
Lloyd George could exuberantly and persuasively propound so
many reforms that one was left only wondering in which order they
should be introduced. Whilst laying great stress upon his
Welshness, he did not trouble himself to disguise his own ambition,
the very English one of being Prime Minister. I could see no reason
why he should not be, indeed contemplated the prospect with some
relish for my own position should he one day have charge of things.
For I was not slow in developing my own ambitions and a desire to
advance them.

It was certain, however, that neither the Liberal Party nor its
rising young men could hope for much whilst the war lasted and the
public suspected our patriotism. And the war lasted much longer
than I had supposed it would. So far from being virtually over when
1 left Capetown at the end of August 1900, it had nearly two years to
run. The Boers resorted to highly effective harrying tactics and
Kitchener, now the C-in-C, responded with a scorched earth policy,
destroying homesteads and rounding up the Boer population in
camps. In my maiden speech in Parliament, in March 1901, I de-
plored the breakdown of negotiations between Kitchener and Botha
and questioned what purpose would be served by the gradual subor-
dination of a people to the extent that, finally, they felt only mute
hostility towards the mother country. Lloyd George congratulated
me afterwards and C-B winked a sagacious eye. There was even
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a quiet word in the lobby from Winston Churchill, now a
Conservative M.P. but eager to befriend any fellow-newcomer to
the House.

But the war did eventually end in May 1902. When news came
that a peace treaty had at last been signed, I remember thinking of
Gerald Couchman, whom I had not seen since leaving South Africa.
1 wondered how he had fared there in the long extension of hostili-
ties which neither he nor I had anticipated. As it happened, I went
up to Lord’s one afternoon in June to catch some play in the Test
Match. Seeing Fry and Ranjitsinhyji, the most stylish of England’s
batsmen, both out for ducks, I beat a hasty retreat and, reflecting
that Couch’s aunt lived nearby, called round to seek news of him

[from my one-time hostess. Sadly, I learnt only that she had died the
year before and that the house was now owned by strangers, who
knew nothing of her nephew.

Peace in South Africa brought peace too in the Liberal Party.
Old feuds were forgotten and, now that the government could no
longer rely on patriotism to bolster it up, thoughts turned to the next
election and how the party might fare at it. The Prime Minister,
Lord Salisbury, retired and his successor, Balfour, developed a
knack helpful to us Liberals of offending members of his own party.
One such was Winston Churchill, who crossed the floor of the House
and became a Liberal in May 1904.

That spring had seen some family concerns draw my attention
back to Devon. My brother had announced the previous autumn his
engagement to Miss Florence Hardisty, the daughter of Admiral
Hardisty of Dartmouth. Arrangements were going forward for an
Easter wedding when my father died, quite suddenly, at Barrow-
tergn. His last wish, expressed to my mother, was that the wedding
should go ahead as planned. Some delay was inevitable, but I sup-
ported the idea that it should be as brief as possible. Accordingly, on
a sunny St. George’s Day, I officiated as best man when the elder
Strafford went down the aisle.

1 confess that I found my new sister-in-law a rather dull em-
bodiment of provincial worthiness, a sure sign that London was
turning my head, and cared not for the insipid watercolour painting
that constituted her principal recreation. Through no fault of her
own, Florence made Barrowteign seem less ltke home than once it
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did, but mine was a lone and perchance over-sensitive reaction.
Florence prudently deferred to my mother in matters of household
management and made a good, commonsense wife for Robert.

1t was with some relish that I now devoted myself to events at
Westminster. An early election seemed in prospect and we were all
busy with an unofficial campaign. On 13 October 1905, I appeared
in a supporting role with Sir Edward Grey, everybody’s tip for the
Foreign Office should we win, at a meeting to support Winston
Churchill’s candidature in north-west Manchester (his ﬁrst n
Liberal colours). An otherwise unremarkable occasion was ren-
dered memorable by constant interruptions from an unlikely
source: two young ladies. They stridently demanded of us a promise
of votes for women, which they did not extract. I learned that one of
them was Christabel Pankhurst, a name that later came to mean a
lot more to me than it did at the time. There was great publicity sur-
rounding the incident and the two were briefly imprisoned for re-
Susing to pay a fine for disorderly conduct, arising from a
commotion they caused in the street after being expelled from the
meeting.

I was bemused and set thinking by this event, to the extent of
canvassing the opinion of others. I could not, for my part, see how a
Liberal government could oppose _fernale suffrage, but we were not
commutted to it, quite the reverse. Lloyd George agreed with me on
the principle of the case but pointed out that other, more important,
reforms would have to come first. My mother pronounced herself a
suffragist, but deplored militant tactics, whilst my sister-in-law had
no opinion to express. I tended to take the Lioyd George view: first
things first. Yet I can now see how a newspaper report of that dis-
rupted meeting in Manchester would have read to a precocious
sixteen-year-old girl, quite as intelligent as the average voting
male, as the advent of a crusade. Little did she or one of the af-
[fronted speakers in Manchester know that they were one day to care
a great deal more about each other than about the issue of fernale
suffrage.

In December 1905, Balfour finally threw in his hand and re-
signed. C-B received the premiership that was a just reward for
many years’ totl, presiding over an exceptionally talented adminis-
tration, with Asquith at the Exchequer and Lloyd George at the
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Board of Trade. My highest hopes were fulfilled when I was myself
given a junior appointment. In eagerly accepting, I hardly paused
to consider the nature of that appointment and thus found nvyself
a junior lord of the Admiralty with a negligible knowledge of
the sea.

1 had, however, no time to brood on the point. C-B had no inten-
tion of seeking to govern with a minority (a rather obvious trap laid
by Balfour) and called an election for January 1906. Matters were
rather better prepared in my constituency this time and, done no
harm by my new appointment, I was returned with an increased
majority. Nationally, the party fared even better than we had
hoped, securing an historic victory.

There was, however, no opportunity for me to bask in an after-
glow of success. Back in London, there was work to be done. The
First Lord of the Admiralty, Lord Tweedmouth, was a staunch old
Scot who had served his time under C-B and now recetved his re-
ward. His seat in the Lords made me answerable for naval policy in
the Commons: an onerous responsibility but one which gave me an
opportunity to shine. Winston Churchill benefited from a similar
arrangement at the Colonial Office, where his Secretary of State
was likewtise a peer. We came to know each other well at this stage,
both feeling that we could make our names in the service of super-
annuated seniors.

In February 1907, I became an uncle when Robert’s son,
Ambrose, was born. A happy child, his company made Barrowteign
a more congenial place for me to spend the summer recess and it
was clear that the birth of a son and heir meant not a little to my
brother, now well set in the life of a country gentlernan, who bore
with good humour my chiding of him for becoming set in his ways.

Early in 1908, the Prime Minister’s health began to break
down. In April, he was obliged to resign and, before the month was
out, he was dead. I was sorry to lose his steady hand upon the tiller,
but was not blind to the possitbility for promotion opened up by the
consequent rearrangements. Rather earlier than I had expected, I
was summoned to see our new leader. Asquith was a man of whom I
had once been suspicious, finding him, when I was new to
Westminster, aloof and often absent. But now he was all beaming
beneficence in offering me a post in the Cabinet. Herbert Gladstone,
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he said, had been induced to accept the Governor-Generalship of
Canada. Asquith deemed that a younger, more vigorous approach
at the Home Office was required than Gladstone had brought to
bear. In consideration of my work at the Admiralty, he offered me
the post. This was more than I had dared hope for. I accepted with
alacrity. Asquith remarked that I was to form part of what he con-
stdered to be a brilliant team. For the moment, though, I was con-
cerned only with the honour and achievement of becoming Home
Secretary at the age of 32. There seemed no limit to my future aspi-
rations.

1t seems generally to be agreed that Asquith’s 1908 Cabinet was
a quite remarkable assemblage of political talent: a team for all oc-
castons. With this I would not differ. Indeed, I was proud to join it
and my arrival coincided with that of several other rising stars—
Lloyd George promoted to the Exchequer, Churchill and McKenna
admitted to the Cabinet for the first time.

Proud I was, but not blind to our shortcomings. Asquith had an
incisive lawyer’s mind but seemed devoid of originality. The older
members of the Cabinet resented us newcomers and, in the conflicts
which arose from that, Asquith aligned himself behind those he
thought would win the day, a tendency which positively encouraged
collusion and intrigue behind the scenes. At this, Lloyd George, for
all his apparent openness, excelled and found in Churclhill an en-
thustastic recruit to his radical cause. Sympathetic though I was to
their reforming zeal, I distanced myself somewhat from them, be-
ing determined to find my feet before committing myself to any
particular stance.

There was, besides, plenty of work to occupy me at the Home
Office, where my predecessor had let matters slide.

The women’s suffrage movement, by its implications both for
the constitution and for civil order; now fell within my purview. I
Sfound myself torn between a wholehearted support for their cause
in theory and a thorough disapproval of their methods in practice.
When the Metropolitan Police Commussioner advised me that a
mass meeting of all groups supporting female suffrage was to be
held in Hyde Park on Sunday, 21 June 1908, I approved his propos-
als for policing the event and decided, without his knowing, to be
present in person.
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1t was a memorable occasion. I was not sufficiently well-known
to the public to be noticed, discreetly clad amongst the vast crowd
that gathered, but I took good notice of what took place. There
were speeches by Keir Hardie—of the new Independent Labour
Party—and Emmeline Pankhurst, pleading their cause with great
Sorce and conviction. There was also a stirring contribution from
Mrs. Pankhurst’s daughter, Christabel, whom I remembered from
our encounter in Manchester in October 1905. It was a wholly
peaceful gathering and I walked away amidst the departing throng
wondering if something could not, after all, be done for them.

I conveyed my views to the Prime Minister, urging that the
government should commut itself to female suffrage on a long-term
basis, arguing that this would defuse much ofthe frustration clearly
displayed at the meeting I had attended. I received a cursory an-
swer to the effect that this was something against which the Cabinet
had already set its face. In private, Lloyd George advanced a more
cogent argument to me. What was the point of considering such a
move when the House of Lords was certain to veto it anyway? 1
gained the impression that I was advancing a radical departure
Jfrom agreed policy rather too soon after my appointment, so re-
solved to bide my time and sayy no more on the subject.

In the event, the suffragists proved quite capable of involving
me in their campaign without any effort on my part. Later that
summer, Emmeline and Christabel Pankhurst were arrested for in-
citing a mob to charge the House of Cornmons. Theur case carme up
at Bow Street in late October. Much to my astonishment and that of
Lloyd George, we were both subpoenaed by the defence. I myself
was subject to some energetic interrogation by Christabel—a qual-
ified barrister—but my experience in the House of Commons en-
abled me to refute her guileful arguments. My contention that the
laudable theory of female suffrage was being done more harm than
good by her antics cast me in a good light both in court and in the
press, though I was wigged afterwards in a note from the Prime
Minister for letting slip my private views.

Lloyd George invited me home for a drink after our court ap-
pearances and I expressed my fear to him that on female suffrage,
as on some other issues, we were allowing more radical elements—
such as the Labour Party—to steal our thunder. He agreed, point-
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ing out that, whilst the House of Lords’ Tory majority continued to
veto Liberal legislation, it could hardly be otherwise. But he said he
hoped to do something about that and, as events showed, he was as
good as his word.

Lloyd George’s fulfilment of his pledge was the Budget of 1909.
Well I remember the many Cabinet meetings during March and
April which pored over that gargantuan, revolutionary document.
What he had contrived to do was to meet all the various claims upon
the Exchequer—jfrom an expansion of the navy to counter Germany,
to the requirements of the new old age pension—by an extensive
raid upon the resources of landed wealth, by income tax, super tazx,
death duties and, most dreaded of all, land value duties. And behind
it all, as we argued the details back and forth, was an awareness that
the Lords would never bear such a blow at their class. And since
their rejection of a Budget was unprecedented, this was bound to
bring to a crisis their repeated veto of other legislation. How it
would be resolved nobody knew or cared to guess, certainly not the
Prime Minister. Nevertheless, in the absence of any alternative and
with Asquith’s awe of Lloyd George ensuring that none would be
Sfound, we pressed forward. On 27 May 1909, the Finance Bill was
issued in its final form and so was set in motion a trial of strength
between the two Houses of Parliament.

Yet I remember that warm spring evening of May 27 for quite
other reasons. I returned to my house in Mallard Street tired and
thoughtful, wanting nothing so much as some peaceful solitude in
which to turn over these portentous political events in my mind. I
had resisted the Metropolitan Police Commissioner’s wish to place
a constable at my door and so there was only Prideaux—my fa-
ther’s old valet who had come up to London with his wife to attend to
my wants since my father’s death—to greet me at home. He took
himself off to the kitchen to instruct Mrs. P to prepare supper for
me, she being well-used to my irregular hours. I poured myself a
scotch and sat down to peruse that morning’s Times. This was my
first opportunity of the day for some rest and relaxation. I em-
barked upon it a single-minded young politictan with thoughts
fixed upon weighty matters of constitutional import, oblivious to the
tmminent explosion into my world of a personal but far more potent

force.
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1 set down the newspaper and crossed to the window, tiring for a
moment of editorial speculation. As I toyed with my drink and
gazed out onto the street, softly lit by evening sun, I observed a slim,
elegant young lady dressed in grey pass by the window and turn in
at my door, then heard the sound of a letter landing on the doormat.
My curiosity aroused, I hurried out into the hall and picked up the
letter: It was, in fact, only a note on plain paper, folded in half.
Unfolding it, I was taken aback to see that it read: “Whilst women
are denied the vote, politicians shall have no peace.”

At this point, there was the sound of breaking glass from the
drawing room, splintering the quietude of evening. Glancing back
into the room, I saw a half housebrick lying on the carpet where I
had just been standing, shards of windowpane scattered around
it. My elegant young caller had just hurled a brick through my
window!

I flung the front door open and ran out onto the pavement.
There she was, hurrying away down the road. Calculating that she
had not reckoned upon immediate pursuit and enraged by this as-
sault, I made after her. The street was empty, so she at once heard
me running towards her, glanced round in alarm, then quickened
her pace and turned right into a side road. I was at the corner in no
time and saw she was only thirty yards or so ahead of me, dress
gathered in her left hand as she now ran headlong in flight. She
looked back again as she heard me drawing closer, shouting out for
her to stop and, in so doing, failed to avoid the bootscraper by the
door she was passing. She tripped and fell awkwardly against some
railings flanking the door. The chase was over. I stooped over my

fallen young assailant and turned her round by the left shoulder to
JSface me.

“Do you realize... you might have killed me?” I said, breath-
less and angry.

UAre you Edwin Strafford?”

“Iam.”

“Then you've only yourself to blame. Did you read the note?”

“Yes...”

“Then you should see sense and meet our just demands...
you're foolish, obdurate and wrong.”

At this, the young lady sought to rise, only to slump back with a
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cry and clasp her right knee. Suddenly, absurdly, I was touched by
her spurit and her injury. She had knocked her chin against the rail-
ings and this was reddening into a bruise. There were tears at the
corners of her eyes so much had her leg pained her. She looked very
young and beautiful, her mouth set in a frown of discomfort but her
eyes flashing with determination. Strands of dark hair had escaped
[from her wide-brimmed hat and fell now across her flushed face. I
forgot my outrage and felt, of all things, remorse for frightening her
into a fall. That she, so young and vulnerable, should have been
driven to this defiance, so ill-equipped to escape yet even now pre-
pared to defend her cause, made me feel old and heartless.

“You've hurt yourself,” I said. “Let me help you up.”

Biting her lip, she was reluctantly obliged to accept my assis-
tance. She flinched as she set her foot on the ground and I had to
support her.

“I think,” I said, “that, even if I am not to arrest you, I must in-
sist that you accompany me back to my house.”

She had no choice but to agree. Taking her firmly by the arm, 1
marched her back along the pavement as fast as her limp would per-
mit. Indoors, I found the Prideaux in a fine state of consternation,
Mprs. P having convinced herself that I had been borne away by in-
truders. I explained what had actually happened and asked Mrs. P
to tend the young lady’s injury. She led her charge away firmly but
dutifully. Prideaux, who had cleared away the broken glass, asked
if he should now call the police.

“Thank you no, Prideauz. For the present, a glazier will suf-
fice.” Prideaux took himself off, muttering some inaudible protest
under his breath.

A few moments later, Mrs. Prideaux returned with the young
lady. “The little minx ‘as taken no ‘arm, sir. What shall us do
with er?”

“Leave her to me, Mrs. P,” I replied. “I want to have a few
words with her.” She hesitated. “Don’t worry. I shan’t let her out of
my sight.” With this assurance, the good soul withdrew. I turned to
my young guest.

“The question arises,” I said, “of what is to be done with you.”

“You may call the police and have me arrested if you wish.”

“I think not. Your trial would provide just the sort of publicity
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you desire. And, besides, with Miss Pankhurst to defend you, I
would be assured of a hot time in the witness box.”

UAs you were when Christabel was tried last autumn?”

“Quute so.”

“I was there, Mr. Strafford. You acquitted yourself well, but it
was a sophist’s victory.”

“You think so?”

“Yes. It was an accomplished political performance, paying no
heed to truth or justice.”

Still this beautiful firebrand was prepared to debate with me. I
was surprised at the force of her convictions and the intelligence of
her arguments, above all at my willingness to overlook her throw-
ing of the brick, my wish to sit and talk with her rather than hand
her over to the police.

“Won’t you sit down? Your leg must be hurting you.”

“It is nothing. Your servant bandaged it.” But she did sit down
and was still a little flushed and breathless, though she had ordered
her appearance since her fall, so that her dark eyes were dry and
her hair in place.

“Since you know who I am, will you at least tell me who
you are?”

“Klizabeth Latimer.”

Und how old are you?”

“Twenty.”

“What would your parents think if they knew what you had
done here this evening?” It was a foolish question, the sort of ques-
tion I knew I would resent in her shoes.

“If they were still alive, Mr. Strafford, they would be as uncom-
prehending as you, though with the excuses of being older and less
well-informed.” I was suitably rebuked.

“I'm sorry, Miss Latimer. You must forgive any testiness on nmy
part. It is a reaction to having a brick thrown through the window of
my private house.”

“You have been Home Secretary for a year now. What have you
done in that time that would prevent an unenfranchised woman
throwing a brick through your window?”

“But, Miss Latimer, you have not yourself come of age.”

“For shame, Mr. Strafford. More sophistry.”
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She was right, and I was ashamed as I leant back in my chair
and gazed across at her, wondering why, at the height of my powers
and standing well in the counsels of the land, I could not match her

for energy and commitment, why I should ever think that my mas-

tery of debating techniques could excuse a politically expedient am-
bivalence. I recalled the scene in Okehampton Town Hall nine
years before, when I had first been elected. My high hopes had since
been fulfilled. But what of the electors’ trust in me? Had that been
rewarded, when Miss Latimer could so rightly rebuke me? I looked
across at her, striving to conceal this sudden guilt, but she, gazing
back, dispelled it in the most unexpected manner. Her mouth curled
into a hesitant smile which was at once restrained, as if it had ap-
peared in a forgetful moment. Her own mask, that of the amazon
campaigner, had slipped, to show the beautiful, nervous young
woman beneath.

“MTr. Strafford—uwhat do you propose to do with me?”

“Why, nothing, Miss Latimer.”

“Nothing at all?”

“Nothing. You may go entirely free—on one condition.”

And that is?”

“That you meet me again soon, when you have recovered from
your injury, so that we may discuss your views in calmer fashion.”

“To what purpose?”

“Surely the man whose window is broken may attempt to show
the breaker the error of her ways.”

“Very well. You offer me an opportunity to show you the error
of your ways which I can hardly refuse.”

“Shall we say Hyde Park next Sunday afternoon at two
o’clock—the seats by the Round Pond?”

“The venue seems an odd one.”

“Miss Latimer, I cannot meet you in formal surroundings. Yet,
as Home Secretary, I would earnestly like to hear more of how my
government can so have failed that it drives the pride of its young
womanhood to window-breaking. I would also like to bring you to
understand that political realities preclude immediate concessions
to what may appear to be the cause of justice and right. I should
hope that such an exchange of views would prove educative to both
parties. Yet it can only be of benefit if it remains, at this stage,
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confidential. I must therefore ask you not to report our meeting to
your confederates.”

“Mpr. Strafford, that is no hardship. They would pour scorn
upon my failure.” She blushed, as if regretting this frankness. “I
will meet you on Sunday.”

“Thank you, Miss Latimer. And by all means report your
evening’s work. I shall advise the newspapers of the attack upon my
house. Privately, you are welcome to the credit.”

“Though you and your colleagues are completely in the wrong,
M. Strafford, I must concede that you are at least a gentleman.”

This seemed the most harmonious note we were likely to find on
which to close. I called Prideaux and asked him to show her out. He
did so with a disapproving grimace. I stood by the broken window
of the drawing room and watched as Miss Latimer walked away
down the street, still limping slightly. She did not look back, but 1
looked after her until she was out of sight, wondering if she would
keep our appointment, whether, for that matter, I ought to keep it.
Now that she had gone, it seemed an absurd thing to have agreed.
Yet, already, I was looking forward to Sunday, determined in my
heart to go, and do the worrying later.

Sunday May 30 duly came and I with it to Hyde Park in the
sunshine. Parents were frolicking with their children by the
Serpentine as I made my way with as much nonchalance as I could
muster towards the Round Pond. There I saw an old man selling
balloons to clamouring children. As a group of them scampered
away, a view opened up of the benches. Seated on one of them,
dressed in cream and reading a book in the shade of a pale blue
parasol, was Miss Latimer. She did not look up as I approached.

“Good afternoon, Miss Latimer,” I said, doffing my hat.

“Good afternoon, Mr. Strafford,” she replied, looking up
gravely from her book. “Won’t you sit down?”

“It’s a lovely day,” I ventured conversationally as I sat be-
side her.

“It is indeed.”

“May I ask what you have been reading?”

“It’s a new book of poems by Thomas Hardy—Time’s
Laughingstocks.”
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“Do you think that we are Time’s laughingstocks, Miss
Latimer?”

“We may be one day, Mr. Strafford.”

“One day, when women have the vote?”

“Touché.”

las, it was a sophist’s thrust.”

“It is good that you should recognize it as such.”

“Thanks to you, Miss Latimer, I have lost faith in sophistry.”

“I am glad to hear it, but doubtful. How can you so suddenly
have lost faith in something which has served you so well in your
career?”

“Let me try to explain.”

“Please do.”

And so it was that, on that bench in the warmih of a Sunday af-
ternoon, with the sounds of ducks and children at play as accompa-
niment, I told Miss Latimer more of the effect of a political career on
a politician than I had previously told anyone save myself. Perhaps
my solitude had left me in unwitting need of such an opportunity.
Certainly, Miss Latimer’s sincerity had reminded me how much of
that commodity I had been obliged to shed in the pursuit of public of-

fice. I told her how, in the effort to master each new brief; to establish
a Parliamentary reputation, and to achieve good standing in the
eyes of the Liberal leadership, I had perforce neglected those other
aims which had been in my mind when first I solicited the support
of the electors of Mid-Devon. I also explained that my rise to a
Cabinet post and the small degree of fame that went with it gave me
a measure of that independence necessary to implement some of
those neglected aims. And in all this, I contended, there was a lesson
Sfor Muss Latimer and her fellow-Suffragettes: something could only
be achieved after an apprenticeship of respectable endeavour, not
simply by the power of argument, however forceful; in other words
that they should emulate my example, serve their time and await
their opportunity.

This was not best-calculated to appeal to an impetuous twenty-
year-old. But Miss Latimer’s counter-argument was based on other
grounds, namely that the women’s suffrage movement had served
its time, since the last suffrage extension in 1884, that the presently
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growing militancy was a symptom of rightful frustration and that,
if the Liberal Party did not soon take heed, they would lose ground
to those—like the Labour Party—iwho would.

“Miss Latimer, you are more convincing than any house-
brick.”

“But, without the brick, would you have listened?”

“I have always listened to the suffragists, but I would not have
listened to this one in particular. Therefore I give thanks for the
brick.”

“Mr. Strafford, you flatter me. What matters is not whether I
am convincing but whether you are convinced.”

“I am convinced that you are a most remarkable young lady
which my party is the poorer for having lost to the suffragist cause.
How came it to have so ardent a campaigner?”

“In no very different way to that in which it has recruited
many educated women who grew tired of waiting for politicians to
see sense.”

“Yet your example might be instructive.”

“I doubt it. But my story is briefly told, so let us see. My family
hails from the Forest of Dean. My mother died when I was born
and my father when I was ten. I was an only child and therefore
had to rely on the charity of distant relatives. Fortunately, an aunt
took me in. I still live with her, in Putney. My father had left suffi-
cient for my education at a boarding school in Kent. There, one day
in the library, I read of a meeting in Manchester disrupted by
Christabel.”

“I remember it well.”

“It made me realize that there were many who shared my dis-
satisfaction with the sort of deferential existence we girls were be-
ing groomed for. As soon as I left school, I made contact with the
Women’s Social & Political Union. I was well-recetved and at once
impressed by their energy and commutment. Christabel was the
driving force and inspired us all, as she still does.”

“To attack politicians?”

“Mpr. Strafford, you would hardly expect me to volunteer to His
Magesty’s Secretary of State for Home Affairs information about
who planned or suggested such acts. I take sole responsibility for my
action on Thursday evening.”
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“I am glad to hear it, Mliss Latimer. I was not inviting disloy-
alty and, besides, your action on Thursday evening will never be a
police matter. I am only trying to establish how matters have come
to this pass.”

“Then you already know. We women have waited too long and
will wait no longer. Remember what I said in my note.”

“Oh, I do. Unhappily, it is not within the power of the govern-
ment to meet your demands. If a bill for female suffrage passed the
Commons tomorrow, it would assuredly be rejected by the Lords.”

“That, Mr. Strafford, is your problem.”

Und it will be solved. Our differences with the Upper House
are approaching a crisis, which will, I believe, be precipitated by
this year’s Budget. But the crisis will take time to resolve—at least a
year. Until it is, what is the point in harrying us®”

“Lest you forget, when the time comes.”

“I for one will not. But perhaps you could donate an occasional
brick to serve as an aide memoire.”

“I shall be casting no more in your direction. One is enough.”

“Then we have achieved something?”

“I think so.”

“Yet I may still forget. It would seem a pity to do so for want of
your refreshing candour.”

“Feel free to avail yourself of it at any time.”

“I hope I may. I have enjoyed our talk here in the sunshine.
Could I perhaps suggest a little outing into the countryside later
this week for a further ministration of your antidote to a politician’s
self-importance?”

“In my judgement, Mr. Strafford, you need the antidote less
than your colleagues, but I would not wish to deny treatment to the
valetudinarian.”

“Who is pleased to hear it. My office permits me a few ex-
travagances. One is the motorcar I have recently purchased. An
excursion in it might entertain you. Would Wednesday afternoon be
convenient?”

“If you can free yourself from your duties for so long.”

“Oh, I think I can. Besides, I would probably be doing the
Metropolitan Police a service by occupying you for an afternoon.
Could I perhaps collect you from your home at two o'clock?”
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“ motorcar at the door might prove too much for Aunt Mercy.
Let us say Putney Bridge.”

“By all means. I'll look forward to that.”

So it was that I collected Miss Latimer as arranged on
Wednesday afternoon. We drove out to Box Hill, a favourite picnic
spot for Londoners, but pleasantly deserted that day. We strolled up
onto the crest of the North Downs and took the air, full of the sky-
lark’s song and a gentle summer breeze.

“Thank you for bringing me out here,” said Miss Latimer. “It
is wonderful on the downs.”

“Iwish that I came here more often,” I replied.

“But you are too busy.”

Und starved, until now, of an ideal companion.”

She demurred, but did not deflect the compliment with some
barbed bon mot, as she would have done the previous week. Later, in
a tea shop in Dorking, we clashed briefly over the question of
Suffragette hunger strikers. Just as I was about to point out that,
with buttered scones before her, she was poorly placed to comment,
she said the same herself. The absurdity of the militant campaigner
taking tea with the dedicated politician whilst, elsewhere, civil ser-
vants might be ascurry at some new outrage, suddenly struck us
and we dissolved into a laughter that drew disapproving glares

from neighbouring tables. That day in Dorking, we did not care.

We returned to Putney in good time and I was invited in to
meet Aunt Mercy. A small, spry, bright-eyed lady blissfully un-
aware of who I might be, met us in her conservatory and continued
to tend her chrysanthemums whilst hearing of our outing. She in-
sisted that her niece should show me the garden. There I took the
opportunity of requesting Elizabeth’s company for dinner on
Friday. She accepted. This time there was no mention of curative
treatment for my blindness to suffragism. This time, I said goodbye
to Elizabeth, not Moiss Latimer, and she to Edwin, not Mr.
Strafford. The fences were coming down.

Yet not all caution with them. I shunned my normal haunts for
dinner, for fear of encountering a colleague, and took Elizabeth to
an establishment favoured by my brother on his rare visits to the
capital—The Baron in Piccadilly. I drove down to Putney on a fine
evening to collect her. A maid admitted me and Elizabeth appeared
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from upstairs, wearing a dark blue velvet dress and presenting an
appearance that is possibly my loveliest memory of her. She wore a
pearl necklace and a brooch at her breast, but no other jewellery.
Nor was any needed to enhance her beauty, the dark, lustrous hair
drawn back from her face and the large, clear eyes gazing upon
me. All in all, I felt, as we drove back towards Piccadilly, a very
lucky man.

The Baron did me proud for dinner, the head waiter being as
impressed by Elizabeth as I was. We spoke discursively and plea-
surably, abandoning the rivalries of the suffrage for music, art and
literature, our very different lives now converged in our strangely
similar visions of the future. As we shared our thoughts, I found
myself thinking of sharing our lives. Easy as that was by candle-
light, I realized that realism would come with daylight: the Home
Secretary and the Suffragette was not a viable partnership.
Something had to give.

And we both gave, a little. Elizabeth could not abandon her
cause, but, by eschewing mulitancy, she could avoid embarrassment
to me. I could not abandon office, but, by saying nothing in public
and telling the Cabinet in private that fernale suffrage must some-
how be wrought, I could apply a little discreet pressure on her be-
half We did our best by each other. And for each other we seemed
surpassingly good. We drove and dined often, Elizabeth introduced
me to the opera and I her to cricket. We came to trust each other with
confidences about intrigues in the Cabinet and the suffragist move-
ment. Elizabeth seemed to make of me a better person and this new-

Sfound completeness took the raw edge off my political ambition. It
had been charged with the difference Elizabeth made in me. And in
her accounts of altercations with Christabel Pankhurst over cam-
paign tactics, there appeared the hint of a difference that I had
made in her.

With time, we became less cautious. I was down to speak in one
of that summer’s long, acrimonious Commons debates about the
Budget. Only when halfway through did I realize that Elizabeth
was in the public gallery, watching. I think it was her presence that
made me risk a joke—uwell-received as it turned out—to the effect
that, if the Chancellor’s proposed diversion of funds to the tarma-

cadamming of roads came to pass, many who had coughed on the
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dust thrown up by my own vehicle would be duly grateful and that
they must include voters of both parties. That was, in a sense, a trib-
ute to Elizabeth, who had told me “Never take yourself seriously—
only what you believe in” and had been, as on most subjects, wise
beyond her years.

1 entertained her in the Members’tea room after the debate and
she acknowledged the tribute, silently, over the teacups. We were
Joined, unexpectedly, by Lloyd George. Perhaps he had seen
Elizabeth and headed in our direction as a result, being one_famed
Sfor his interest in the fair sex, especially a beautiful young represen-
tative of it. This fact made me slightly uneasy.

“Won’t you introduce me to your charming companion,
Edwin?”

“Certainly, L.G. Miss Elizabeth Latimer, the Chancellor of the
Exchequer.”

They shook hands, Lloyd George contriving to give Elizabeth
the glad eye as he bowed and smiled. In any other company, I would
have been amused by his incorrigibility; now I was irritated by it.
Not that I needed to be, for Elizabeth treated him almost with dis-
dain, to which he was not accustomed and which only our growing
affection made it seem that he deserved. Still, it was not an unconge-
nial spectacle to one who had often enough seen the Prime Minister
shrink beneath his Chancellor’s wand.

Elizabeth betrayed a knowledge of politics over and above any
confidences of mine and joked that even the tea in her company was
Liberal (it was Earl Grey), which persuaded Lloyd George that she
was that dangerous phenomenon, a beautiful and intelligent
woman. The beauty and intelligence I could never have doubted,
but of danger I saw no sign.

The summer passed in this carefree entrancement. Early in
August, [ was persuaded to indulge Aunt Mercy’s passion for horse
racing: Elizabeth and I took her down to Goodwood for the day.
Aunt Mercy was the only one to win any money, but my sights were
set on a higher prize. Picnicking on the grass with the slope of the
South Downs behind us and Mercy lost somewhere in the press
round the betting tent, I mentioned the impending Parliamentary
recess, when I customarily got away to Barrowteign.

“I shall miss you while you're away,” Elizabeth said.
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“And I you. That is why I should be so very pleased if you
would consent to accompany me.”

“To Barrowtetgn?”

“Yes. Don’t worry, you would be in excellent hands. There is
my mother and my brother, his wife and their son. And I could
show you the delights of Devon.”

UAnd your ancestral home?”

“It’s hardly that, but it is where my roots are. Won’t you come?”

“If you think I would not be intruding.”

“Certainly not.”

Und if Aunt Mercy agreed.”

“We’ll ask her, but I'm sure she will.”

“Then I'd very much like to go with you.”

“You don’t look quite certain.”

“Oh, I'm certain. It’s just that...oh, Edwin, sometimes I'm so
nervous.”

“There’s no need to be. Just trust me.”

And she said that she did. There was no need to say that 1
trusted her. Aunt Mercy, flushed with her winnings, expressed un-
constrained enthusiasm for the proposal. A letter to my mother
elicited equal enthusiasm and plans were swiftly made. Elizabeth
reported qualms in her suffragist circle about such a long absence
for undisclosed reasons, but she was not to be swayed by them. As
soon as my official duties would permit, we were off.

The clock behind me struck seven and drew me forward nearly
seventy years from the Sussex Downs to Madeira on an April
evening. It was growing dark in Strafford’s study now. If I'd not
been so absorbed in his narrative, I'd have put the light on, but
the gathering gloom seemed appropriate when I considered the
bright promise of that distant summer and set it against an old
man’s desk far from home, with only photographs left of those
he’d once held so dear.

Downstairs, Tomas sounded the dinner gong—I'd missed
aperitifs. From Strafford’s lost world, where I'd been all after-
noon, it was a long way back to the present. So it came as a
wrench to close the book and take it with me from the room.
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In the drawing room, I met Alec coming in from the veran-
dah, with Sellick behind him.

“We were wondering where you’d got to,” Alec said.

“I'm sorry. I didn’t notice the time until just now.”

“Leo’s been telling me about your deal. I believe congratula-
tions are in order. Welcome back to the rat race.”

“Thanks. I'm hoping it'll prove a more civilized race than the
one with Millennium.”

“Sure to be. You’ve done better out of Leo than I have. I think
he’s making a habit of rescuing English intellectuals down on
their luck.”

“How could I deny journalism Alec’s wonderful turns of
phrase?” said Sellick, smiling broadly.

“Nevertheless,” I said, “we are both indebted to you, Leo. I
hope you won’t have cause to regret your generosity.”

“I'm sure I shan’t. And besides, am I not a hard taskmaster? It
1s Saturday, and I have let you go on working. But even the avid
researcher must be fed. Shall we eat?”

Dinner was as excellent as the night before: succulent Porto
Santo melon followed by roasted local rabbit, washed down with
more of Sellick’s fine ddo. He and Alec talked of the next issue of
the magazine—and a few after that—>but I said little. I was impa-
tient to return to the Memoir. For the moment, Strafford’s world
interested me more than my own and dinner, even in civilized
company, was no competition. My distracted state was not lost on
Sellick. While he sipped malmsey and I picked at some cheese, he
finally drew my attention to it.

“I think your thoughts are elsewhere, Martin.”

“You're right and I'm sorry. The meal’s superb.”

“But your mind 1s on the Memoir.”

“I'm afraid so.”

“Don’t apologize. As sponsor, I'm delighted to see it. How’s it
going?”

“Very well. Strafford 1s about to take Elizabeth Latimer down
to Barrowteign.”

“Ah, yes. All is well at that stage.”

“But not for much longer?”
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“No, but don’t let me spoil your reading.”

“I don’t think you will. Besides, such a work’s bound to have
an unsatisfactory ending.”

“Why so?”

“In the sense that 1t’s the story of Strafford’s life written be-
fore his death and therefore incomplete. Tell me, is he buried
near here or in Funchal?”

“Neither. He 1s buried in England, in the village of Dewford,
near Barrowteign, with the rest of his family.”

“He wasn’t completely forgotten then, if they took him home
to be buried?”

“He did not have to be taken. Strafford died at Barrowteign.”

“Really?”

“Yes. I swiftly established that he was not buried on Madeira.
The British Consul then made enquiries for me in London. It
transpired that Strafford returned to England in the spring of
1951 and went to Barrowteign to stay with his nephew.”

“What did he die of?”

“He was hit by a train on a level crossing where a railway line
traversed the Barrowteign estate. That’s all they could tell me.”

“I see.”

“Though, as you’ll read for yourself, that has a curious paral-
lel with events in the Memoir. But I'd better say no more at
present.”

Beyond that, Sellick would not be drawn. His smile was
sphinxlike in the candlelight, his sudden revelation and as sudden
reticence all too convenient. I knew then that I wasn’t the only
one holding back information. In Sellick’s case, he was letting it
slip at intervals. Now, I was to understand that Strafford hadn’t
ended his days in exile, but back in England, by accident, in
search of...what? The truth after forty years? A last sight of
Barrowteign? Or something else Sellick wasn’t telling me about
yet? But no, he’d said the mystery of Strafford’s fall was intact. I
had to assume he didn’t know either, yet I couldn’t any longer be
certain.

We went through to the drawing room for coffee. There, on a
card table, stood a solitary, dark bottle of madeira.
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“What’s this?” said Alec. “Something special?”

“You might say so,” replied Sellick. “I asked Tomas to put it
out for us.”

“But there are no glasses.”

“That’s because it’s not for drinking ... yet. You could call it a
prize bottle. Take a look. You'll soon see what I mean.”

Alec picked up the bottle and tilted its yellowed label to the
light. “I don’t believe it,” he said. “I just don’t believe it.”

“What 1s 1t?” I said, walking to his side.

“See for yourself...Leo’s been holding out on me.”

It was old madeira...very old. In fact, a bottle of the 1792
vintage.

“I'm sorry, Alec,” Sellick said with a smile. “Nothing could
stop you writing the article when you did. Unfortunately, the time
was not then ripe to tell you that there was indeed some left.”

“But how ...”

“A bequest from Dr. Grabham to the previous owner of this
property, discovered by me in the cellar.”

“But last night you said . . .”

“That in all probability Grabham had left none behind. I
know. Well, that still is the balance of probability. In fact, though,
he left a few bottles to Strafford—mnaturally enough, as the most
distinguished and discerning Englishman of the locality after
Grabham himself—and Strafford left this one bottle for me to
find. But I couldn’t tell you until tonight because I hadn’t per-
suaded Martin to research the Strafford mystery.”

“I'm not sure I see the connection,” I said.

“The connection,” replied Sellick, “is my description of it as
a prize bottle. It constitutes our prize, our reward to drink in
Strafford’s honour when your research is satisfactorily concluded.
At that time, I propose that we three should gather here to com-
memorate the occasion by cracking open the last of the '92. I am
sorry not to have told you before, Alec, but I hope you'll agree
there was a good reason.”

“I suppose I must,” said Alec. “Can I at least write about it af-
ter that?”

“Of course,” said Sellick. “As a good journalist, you should be
grateful to me for providing you with the perfect sequel.”
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We laughed, and toasted in much younger malmsey Sellick’s
judgement in planning such a fitting tribute to Strafford. For me,
it was a long way to look ahead, but at least there was the satisfac-
tion of knowing that Sellick’s whimsical editing of the facts could
be applied to Alec as well as me.

“I think you owe me a game of snooker for this, Leo,” Alec
said. “It’ll give me a chance of revenge.”

“What Alec means, Martin, is the certainty of revenge.
Clearly, I must submit. Will you join us in the billiards room?”

“I’d like to, but duty calls.” I pointed at the Memoir where it
lay on a low table by one of the fireside armchairs.

“Of course. We'll leave you to it, then.”

They took their drinks and headed off. I wasn’t sorry to see
them go. I'd had enough of Sellick’s conjuring tricks for one
evening and felt on surer ground with the Memoir: the dead do
not dissemble. Tomas brought me some coffee and I sat down
with it in the armchair beneath a standard lamp. I opened the
Memoir and rejoined Strafford in the year 1909.



MEMOIR

1909—19g10

Iremember that misty day at the end of August 1909 more
clearly than I remember many of the days I pass here in my re-
tirement. I collected Elizabeth from Putney and loaded her trunk
into the car whilst Aunt Mercy pressed parting gifts and wishes
upon her niece. Elizabeth wore a tweed dress, with a cape and a
bonnet tied under her chin to ward off the chill of a long journey. I
sounded the horn in farewell to Mercy as we drove off, alarming a
passing dray but, strangely, settling Elizabeth’s nerves. She con-
Sessed that she had been feeling somewhat apprehensive about
meeting my family and was positively relieved that we were now on
our way.

We passed down through Surrey and Hampshire and stopped
at Salisbury for luncheon in a cosy tea room by the cathedral. The
grey mist on the green with the great spire above minded Elizabeth
of the Melchester of Hardy, whose Wessex we were about to enter. I
remarked how odd it seemed to me that one so young as she should
read the poems of one so old and sad.

“Mr. Hardy is not such a sad man,” she replied. “He is merely
resigned to the poignant sense of loss with which every eager enter-
prise must one dayy be remembered by those involved.”

“That’s an old thought for a young head.”

“Perhaps, but my awareness of it will not dim my enthusi-
asm—or any happiness it can bring.” The set of her chin told me
that she was to be believed. “Tell me in thirty years if it is so.” My
hopes still to know her thirty years on took wing at that remark. It
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was as well for my peace of mind that I did not know how vain those
hopes were or how right she was.

We travelled on until the chalk and pale green of Dorset
changed to the red earth and deeper green of Devon and, when we
reached Ezxeter in the late afternoon, we found the sun shining there
as tf it had done all the day.

“Now we are entering your kingdom,” Elizabeth said as we
drove slowly over the bridge across the Exe.

“Hardly that,” I replied, “merely my constituency, too rarely
visited since I became a minister, and my home, which I am always
glad to return to.”

“Your mother will be pleased to see you.”

Und you,” I reassured her, hoping that I was right.

Beyond Exeter, we went by winding lanes on which cars were a
rarity. It was early evening before we passed through the village of
Dewford on the banks of the Teign, turned onto the Barrowteign es-
tate and sighted the big old house among the beech trees, as familiar
to me as it was strange to Elizabeth.

My mother greeted us and at once turned her warmth and
charm to ensuring that Elizabeth felt welcome. Robert we found in
the drawing room, sucking on his pipe and looking more like the
squire of the neighbourhood than when last I had seen him, yet with
his bluff good humour unimpaired. Before there was time for any
awkwardness to arise, little Ambrose tottered in with his nanny
and, by the time his mother appeared, was being dandled on
Elizabeth’s knee to his evident delight. Florence looked askance at
this and her apparent resentment of the possible admission of a fe-
male rival to a family over which she seemed rapidly to be gaining
dominion was the only jarring note in an otherwise harmonious
homecoming.

Of Elizabeth’s political activities we naturally said nothing, be-
yond alluding to her suffragist sympathies to my mother, who took
these to be comparable with her own and still counselled against
mentioning them to Robert, who would be scandalized. I was less in-
clined to doubt this after a tour of the estate with him, during which
he speculated on increasing the rents in such an unthinking manner
that I detected a hardening of his attitudes with age, or perhaps
with marriage, that disturbed me. He was appalled by my hints of a
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comung clash with the Lords over the Budget and I subsequently
satd no more to him of such matters.

For all that, Robert was charmed by Elizabeth, as was my
mother. I think she recognized in her such energy and intelligence
as she might once have aspired to herself had she not accepted rural
seclusion with my father. They made an instantly sympathetic pazr,
the elegant old lady and the vibrant young one; perhaps Elizabeth
saw something of Hardy’s poetry in my mother’s soul. If so, it was a
great deal more than she (or I) saw in Florence’s paintings, which I

Sfound festooning the house to my considerable irritation. Elizabeth
proved more adept than I in displaying some admiration for them,
but even this could not endear her to my sister-in-law.

A central purpose of any sojourn at Barrowteign was to remind
myself of all the doings in the constituency, to visit and advise those
with a problem and to show myself in the area. In this Elizabeth
proved a great aid. Her beauty dazzled many, her wit drew out oth-
ers, her grace soothed the pugnacious few. At her behest, I played in
Dewford’s last cricket match of the season, which impressed the vil-
lagers almost as much as the rounds I stood them at the inn after-
wards. At my behest, she accompanied me on a visit to the poor
quarrying districts south of Barrowteign and there conceded that
old age pensions and Lloyd George’s national insurance schemes
ought perhaps to take priority over suffrage reform. We continued,
in short, to be as good for each other in Devon as we had been in
London. Even Flowers, my assiduous agent, was heard to mutter
that Elizabeth for a wife would enhance my standing in the con-
stituency.

Not that it was Flowers’ typically blunt calculation that set me
thinking of matrimony. That was born of the affection that I felt
deepening into love. September passed as an idyll of growing happi-
ness and hope. Fine weather attended our weeks at Barrowteign
and I often took Elizabeth out onto the Moor or down to the coast,
indulgences in the beauty of nature which she had not known since
childhood. So far from London and my career, it was easy to forget
the difficulties attendant upon our association. Insofar as I bore
them in mind, it was only as a minor problem eastly overcome.
Much more significant so far as I was then concerned was whether 1
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could persuade Elizabeth to agree to marry me. I doubted not that,
if I could, it would assure my future happiness.

Michaelmas was that year a peerless day of autumnn brightness,
every tree and every stone at Barrowteign picked out by sharp
shadows in the clear sunlight of a cloudless sky. The house was
quiet, with Robert off on his quarter-day tour of the tenant farms,
Mother along with him to see for herself that all was well with those
whose welfare was always close to her heart, if not always that of
her son. Florence had gone to visit her family in Dartmouth for a
Sew days, taking Ambrose with her. Elizabeth was eager to escape
into the sunshine and I was free to indulge her eagerness.

I drove the car up into the foothills of Dartmoor that lie be-
tween the Teign and Bovey valleys and stopped where the lanes be-
came too rough and steep for further progress. We continued on foot,
I carrying a picnic luncheon in a haversack whilst Elizabeth set a
disarming pace and navigated expertly by one of my brother’s
maps. So it was that she brought us to Blackingstone Rock, that
great node of granite atop the hills above Moretonhampstead, and
led the ascent. I was more breathless than she when we reached the
flat top of the rock and sat down to take the view. Before us the
Torridge plain stretched as far as the sea, which I could almost
think I saw, so clear was the air. Behind us Dartmoor hummocked
towards its wilder reaches. Down in the Teign valley, it was just pos-
sible to descry the distant roofs of Barrowteign. I gazed around in
awe, breathing heavtly.

“This will never do,” said Elizabeth. “You have spent too long
behind your desk in Whitehall, Edwin, I can see.”

“Perhaps,” I replied, “but I have carried a meal on my back
and you have younger legs than 1.”

She threw a fern leaf in my direction and we laughed. The sun
and the warmth seemed as undeserved at this season as our happi-
ness, but both were there to be revelled in. I uncorked the flagon of
cellar-cooled cider I had brought and we toasted the countryside of
my birth.

ALl over Devon,” I said, “workers will be pausing from the
harvest at about this time for a draught of their native brew.”

4

“Or worrying about their rent for the next quarter.’
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“Do not be hard on Robert,” I said, detecting a shaft in hus di-
rection. “He’s as good a landlord as they come. A little set in his
ways, I admit, and beginning to take himself too seriously, but that’s
Just the onset of middle age. Losing my breath on stiff climbs is
probably a sign that I'm to emulate him.”

“I'm sorry. I didn’t mean to criticize Robert. He is a good
man. He simply lacks his brother’s vision and intelligence—and
humour.”

Uny humour is your gift, and a goodly part of the vision too.
Florence would grind any man down. We cannot all be lucky
enough to find someone like you.”

Elizabeth looked down and blushed, in her a rare show of vul-
nerability. But it was not the altogether pleasing contrast with my
plain and prosaic sister-in-law that had occasioned this embarrass-
ment. It was the implication that she might one day be my wife.
What had so often been in my thoughts of late emerged in speech
with a subtlety that we both realized the other would appreciate.
And it was a measure of my respect _for her that I did not then at-
tempt some awkward concealment.

“You have guessed my thoughts,” I said. “Four months ago you
threw a brick through my window. I little thought that it would find
a way to my heart. But it has done, and more, for you have changed
me as you have touched me, made of me a person I am happier
to be.”

“Iwill take no credit,” she said softly, “unless you acknowledge
the better woman you have made of me.”

“Such mutual flattery!” We laughed then at ourselves and at
each other.

Elizabeth gazed about for a moment at the view.

“It s lovely here,” she said. “And it has been lovely at
Barrowteign this past month. Thank you so much for bringing me.”

“Thank you for coming,” I said. “Alas, the time has sped by and
soon we will have to return to London.” For a moment we each
thought of what that would mean, then I put it into words. “I have
grown so used to spending each day with you. It will seem strange
and hard not to once again.”

“It will seem hard for me too.”
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“There is of course an alternative.” Elizabeth said nothing, nor
1 for a moment. Then I continued. “You could agree to marry me.”

“What are you saying, Edwin?”

“What I am saying, Elizabeth, is will you marry me?”

“Oh, L would so like to say yes.”

“Then will you?”

“What about your career?”

“It could only be enhanced by a wife as lovely as you. You have
already seen how my constituents have taken to you.”

“But in London?”

“There too. The Prime Minister is no ogre and would have, I
Judge, no grounds to object.”

“Not even the grounds of my own politics?”

“Not even those. But I would not expect you to abandon them.”

“Then what about your family?”

“Mother adores you.”

“But surely Florence does not.”

Y commendation in itself”

“You seem to have an answer to every objection.”

“Only because there can be no objection to something so right.”

“Then I will say yes, Edwin, with all my heart, and learn to
obey my future husband.”

We smiled, knowing that obedience would never be expected in
our marriage, and I drew her close and kissed her, the breeze blow-
ing her hair onto my face.

“I love you, Elizabeth.”

Und I love you, Edwin.”

There reached its zenith, on that high boulder in Devon, my
hope for what life had to offer. It had offered me ministerial rank in
the counsels of my land and I had taken it, though with what benefit
to those I was set to serve I could no longer clearly see. Now it had
offered me Elizabeth, whose happiness I saw as a sure, attainable
objective amidst all the shifting compromises of politics. We sat atop
Blackingstone Rock that bright September noon, smiling with a mu-
tual nervousness at the certainty of our love, knowing that the gran-
ite beneath our feet could be no firmer than our trust in each other.

Yet even granite can be broken. And the first cracks were even
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then appearing. What I did not know until long after was that
Florence, fearing her own eclipse in the family and, worse still,
some sullying of her name by an unfortunate marriage, had taken
it upon herself to consult her father’s solicitor and to commission
some discreet research into Elizabeth’s background, her suspicion
having been aroused by some reticence she detected in our accounts
of it. At first, no doubt, she was concerned only to satisfy herself that
Elizabeth was an appropriate bride for me in her own watercolour
social terms. But I can imagine the horrified glee with which, on her
latest visit to Dartmouth, she recetved the report that Miss Latimer,
orphan of Putney, was an active member of the Women’s Social &
Political Union who had already come to the notice of the police
and been fined for at least three breaches of the peace in the pursuit
of militant suffragism.

So, when Elizabeth and I returned to Barrowteign and de-
lighted my mother with our announcement, we were but shortly fol-
lowed home by Florence, in a secret ecstasy of spite rewarded. She
knew her husband as she thought she knew her prey and, in response
to our tidings, brought some of her own to Robert’s ears, couched, no
doubt, in terms of concern for my welfare. Robert, decent pliable
man that he was, realized (as his wife reminded him) that there was
nothing to be gained by challenging me on the subject, so thought to
have a word with that most pragmatic of counsellors, Flowers, who,
alive to his responsibilities as my agent, determined that covert ac-
tion was required to save a career which he had laboured long to
protect. This took the form of an approach to the mandarins of the
Liberal Chief Whip’s Office, who thereupon began to move with all
their dread inertia against two unwitting lovers.

Of all this, I was in ignorance. Likewise my mother and
Elizabeth, who drew even closer after our announcement than be-

fore. And if Robert looked straight at times and Florence sour, I
would have seen nothing in it. My mind was set on a spring wed-
ding and the imminent resumption of Parliamentary business,
strictly in that order.

In the middle of October; with the leaves falling at Barrowteign,
we set off to London, myy mother sending us on our way with en-
treaties to return at Christmas and to fix a date soon. 1o neither
were we in the least averse. We motored back happily with the roof
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up against the autumn chill, talking of ourselves and the future—
now conjotned—as the countryside slid serenely by. Mercy had
been warned by letter and greeted us with fulsome approbation.
High tea with her in Putney, Elizabeth on my arm making plans
with her aunt which I was happy to indulge, made me feel glad to be
back in London.

1 still felt so next morning, when I reported to my office in posi-
tively buoyant mood. Despatch boxes had kept me in touch with
events in my absence but I was looking forward to Meres’ customar-
ily thorough briefing nonetheless. Before there was a chance of
that, I received a message to telephone 10 Downing Street at once.
The Prime Minuster’s secretary told me that Mr. Asquith wished
to see me in his office at_four o’clock that afternoon. He declined to
elaborate.

There was much to busy myself with in the interim. Accord-
ingly, I walked round to Downing Street that grey afternoon in a
mood more of curiosity than foreboding. I was admitted without de-
lay to the presence. I found Asquith slumped at his desk and knew at
once from his posture that he was in a taciturn frame of mind. He
asked me to sit down.

“Did you have a good break, Edwin?” he growled.

“Thank you, yes, Prime Minister.”

Und you return refreshed?”

“Indeed—ready for the fray.”

“I can guarantee some of that. I'm confident that the Budget
will be passed by the Commons early next month.”

nd so to the Lords.”

“Quate. I am reliably informed that they will reject it.”

“Then they will have to bear the consequences.”

s will we all. We will find ourselves on the horns of a constitu-
tional dilemma.”

“Surely that can only hurt the Lords.”

Hlas no. We will almost certainly have to go to the country for
a mandate to overturn the Lords’ decision.”

“If we must we must.”

1 had grown by now more than a little puzzled. This issue had
been debated, our reaction to the Lords rejecting the Budget re-
hearsed, many times before in Cabinet. Our conversation now was



76 ROBERT GODDARD

adding nothing, so to what purpose had I been urgently summoned?
Asquith rose and began pacing the room.

Ut a time such as this, Edwin, we can ill afford public embar-
rassment. The people must respect us as the repositories of good
sense in opposition to irresponsible aristocrats.”

“Have we not established that position?”

“We had. I now find that it is imperilled by one minister’s im-
prudence.”

“What has happened?”

“What has happened is that the Chief Whip has told me that,
during your recent stay in Devon, you became engaged to marry a
notorious Suffragette.”

1 was taken aback. I had to set aside for a moment enquiry into
how the Chief Whip had come by his information and face what ap-
peared to be an unwarranted intrusion into my private life.

“Is this true, Edwin?” Asquith asked, facing me.

“Yes. I would quibble with your description of Miss Latimer as
notorious, but she has certainly been active in the suffragist cause.
And we are engaged to be married. But I can see no...”

“Who knows of this?”

“Our respective families and, it seems, the Chief Whip. But
what...”

“Not the WSPU?”

“Certainly not. Miss Latimer and I proposed to say nothing
about it for a while yet.”

“That, at least, is something.”

“Prime Minister, what is the problem?”

Asquith sat heavily back down in his chair, sighing as he did so.

“Edwin, you showed yourself from an early stage to be a calm,
incisive thinker, neither a demagogue nor a sycophant. You were
that invaluable asset to the man at the wheel—a young, energetic,
impartial adviser, a good worker with a good brain. That is why 1
promoted you when I came to office. How can you therefore be so
naive as to ask where is the problem in your marrying a
Suffragette?”

“I have thought it through and see no problem. My private life
is just that: private. I have made no secret of my support for fernale
suffrage in the long run but I accept that it must take its place in the
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queue. My fiancée appreciates that now too and has foresworn tlle-
gal acts. But neither of us wishes to force our convictions upon the
other. I really do not see why two unattached young people should
not marry if they wish.”

“Because neither of you is unattached. You are a member of a
government many of whose supporters deplore militant suffragism
and would impute to you, for marrying a Suffragette, just that de-
gree of trresponsibility of which we are now accusing the Lords. It
would do immeasurable harm to our standing with the electorate, at
a time when we must have popular support to force through those
soctal reforms which a Cabinet of which you are a member consid-
ers so vital. Miss Latimer is, by contrast, a member of an organiza-
tion which seeks to promote by violent means its own sectional
interest above those with greater needs and fewer resources. Your
marriage is not to be countenanced in these ctrcumstances.”

“Then I will resign.” There was nothing else I could say. No
amount of argument would sway Asquith in this mood and
Elizabeth deserved such a sacrifice of me. Yet I knew in the back of
my nund, that resignation was the one card that might win me this
hand, for the Prime Minister could ill-afford to lose me at a time
when Lloyd George, with Churchill’s willing assistance, was threat-
ening to seize the initiative from him. I was one of the few able
young lieutenants he could look to for aid. Sure enough, I saw his

Jace fall at my words.

“Bdwin,” he said, “I trust it will not come to that. Your pro-
posed marriage is not to be countenanced at this time and in these
circumstances. That is not to say that there will not be a better time
and more propitious circumstances. What I am asking you—and
Miss Latimer—to do is wait and keep silent for a while.”

“How long would that be?”

“Let us suppose that matters fall out as we expect, that the
Lords do reject the Budget next month. There would then have to be
a general election—probably early in the New Year—to give me
the right to ask the King to create sufficient new peers to swamp the
Lords if they will not then concede. The matter would be resolved
by the spring.”

“I see.”

“Is that too long to ask you to wait? Just a few months may see
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us establish forever the right of a democratically elected govern-
ment to legislate without hindrance from an hereditary upper
house. These are grave issues indeed. Would you see our case weak-
ened by the impatience of youth?”

There seemed, again, no choice in how to respond.

“No, Prime Minuster, I would not. And if all you need are six
months to finish the job, then you can rely upon my discretion—and
that of Miss Latimer—in the interim. Do I take it that we could
proceed after that without objection?”

“Of course. I have no wish to stand in your way. All I ask is
your support in the trying months ahead.”

“You have that without the need to ask.”

When I left Downing Street, I felt disappointed by Asquith’s ex-
cesstve caution but consoled by the esteem for me evident in his re-
action to the idea of my resigning. I proceeded at once to Putney
and told Elizabeth what had happened.

“What the Prime Minuster is saying then,” she remarked with
composure, “is that he has no objection in principle to our marrying
but that he expects us to keep it quiet until his problem with the
House of Lords ts resolved next spring.”

“Precisely.”

Und you gave him an undertaking to that effect?”

“My dear, what else could I do? We had spoken of a spring wed-
ding anyway. Is it such a great hardship to announce nothing until
then?”

Elizabeth crossed to where I stood and took my hand. “No, it is
not, Edwin. It is a small price to pay for your remaining a minister
and I would not wish for all the world to damage your career,
which, after all, may achieve so much good.”

1 was relieved. “I am glad to hear you say so. I felt presumptu-
ous in speaking for you as well as for myself this afternoon.”

“There is no need. We must both learn to speak for each other
henceforth. But do not think —her eyes flared theatrically— “that
this will let you off the hook, Mr. Strafford. The day after the Lords
pass the Budget, I shall expect an announcement in The Times.”

We laughed and kissed and were surprised by Mercy in search
of her embroidery. I did not stay for dinner, leaving Elizabeth to
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impress upon her aunt the need for discretion whilst I penned a let-
ter to my mother with the same injunction.

Next day, there was a Cabinet meeting at which Asquith in-
formed us all of his expectations for the progress of the Budget.
Lloyd George uttered threats to dismantle the Lords which con-
Sfirmed my suspicion that the Prime Minister had need of me at this
time. There was, naturally, no mention of our conversation the pre-
vious day.

Rather as Asquith had predicted, the Budget passed the
Commons on November 4 and was rejected by the Lords on
November 30. The government’s reaction was pre-ordained: we
would go to the country in January and, upon re-election, force the
Lords to pass both the Budget and a bill depriving them of the right
to veto legislation by the threat of creating sufficient new peers to
swamp their Tory majority. Asquith set about persuading the King
that he should cooperate in this by being willing, if necessary, to
create those peers and gave us in the Cabinet to understand that he
was encountering no difficulty. There remained only the slight
problem of winning the election.

1 went down to Barrowteign for Christmas—Elizabeth (and
Mercy) joining me a few days later in the name of discretion—and
stayed on for the campaign in the constituency. This time, Elizabeth
was not much seen in the area, again for discretion’s sake. She
chafed at her relative confinement, but was kept amused by Mother
and Mercy. Robert and Florence had gone to Dartmouth for
Christmas, which was probably as well. I made no attempt to deter-
mine the provenance of the communication to the Chief Whip,
though I harboured various suspicions. Still and all, the impending
election kept me occupied, knowing as I did that a great deal more
hung upon it than was normally the case. One help to the govern-
ment in general and its Home Secretary in particular was that the
suffragist organizations called a truce for the campaign, hoping for
their reward in the new parliament. So far as she had been able,
Elizabeth had supported this move in her branch of the WSPU and
it had been implemented despite Christabel Pankhurst’s trenchant
opposition.

The citizens of mid-Devon did not betray me. I was returned
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with another enlarged majority, taking me past the figures Sir
William had been wont to attain. The election went less well for
the party as a whole, however. We won rather fewer seats than in
1906, losing more than a few to Labour, who seemed to gain (as I
had feared) by the frustration generally felt at our inability to
bring about the reforms which we had promised. Fortunately, the
Conservative vote collapsed. Nevertheless, we lost our clear major-
ity and, though much the largest party, were dependent upon the
Irish members to pass legislation.

When Elizabeth and I returned to London—again sepa-
rately—in the middle of January 1910, it was in a mood of cautious
optimism. Despite the less than clearcut nature of our victory at the
polls, I had no doubt that we could at once set about breaking the
power of the Lords forever. Once that was done, I could turn with a
clear conscience to the sealing of my personal happiness by mar-
riage to Elizabeth. Never at any point in this, our trial by tiresome
parting, did I doubt the ultimate triumph of our love.

I'left Strafford there and went up to bed. The silence and shadow
of his own drawing room seemed no place to follow his chronicle
into its darker phase, the phase I knew must follow, when all his
flair and promise turned to pathos and despair. At first, I'd been
fascinated by the transformation and how it had come about.
Now, it was beginning to appal me.

Yet some of the grimness had gone by morning. The sounds and
light of another hot Madeiran day reminded me of a there and
then sufficient for my purposes. There was no sense in falling un-
der the spell of my long-dead research subject. Apart from any-
thing else, it wasn’t professional. I went down to breakfast with a
remedial jauntiness.

Alec was on the verandah, eating a grapefruit. I helped my-
self to some coffee, which stood ready, and sat beside him.

“Bad news, Martin,” Alec said between spoonfuls. “Today we

go back to Funchal.”
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“Well, I didn’t expect to stay this long anyway, but I'm
nowhere near finishing the Memoir.”

“Don’t worry. Leo’s thought of that. He’s asked me to get a
photocopy done. He doesn’t want to part with the original for
long, so we’ll take it with us, make a copy, then I'll return it
to him.”

“Fine. When do we go?”

“Pronto, I'm afraid. I need to be back in Funchal for this af-
ternoon’s soccer. As sports correspondent, I can’t afford to miss the
island’s fortnightly big match. And that’ll mean catching the bus.
There aren’t many on a Sunday. I'll ask Tomas what time the next
one passes.”

“It seems a pity to leave so soon.”

“Needs must. Talking of which, Leo’s in his study and wants
you to look in on him there. I think he’s planning a business chat.
You know how meticulous South Africans are where money’s
concerned. Why don’t you have a word with him while I look for
Tomas?”

Sellick’s study was on the eastern side of the courtyard. It was
a far cry from Strafford’s—small but pleasantly cool, with a win-
dow overlooking the fountain.

Sellick swung round in his chair clutching a sheet of paper as
if 1t were a profitable bill of lading.

“Come in, Martin, come in,” he said. “Please excuse the
cheerless venue. You've come at just the right time. I'm writing
to my banker”—he flourished the paper—“instructing him to
transfer to your bank account the sum of one thousand pounds, to
start your research off. Then you need only let me know when
you need more. I trust that seems satisfactory.”

I assured him it did and gave him the name and address of
my bank.

“Thank you, Martin. That will have been arranged by the
time you return to England. Now, how goes the reading?” The
change of subject was abrupt, as if the sordid question of money
was to be given minimal attention.

“It’s going well, though there’s still a lot to read. But Alec
tells me I can have a copy to refer to.”
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“Yes, and he wants to return to Funchal today. So I shall see
no more of you until...well, until you've reached a conclusion.
But I shall expect regular progress reports.”

“You'll get them. I'm eager to start. I should be able to finish
reading the Memoir before I fly home on Wednesday. Then I'll
get straight down to 1t.”

“Where will you begin?”

“Difficult to say at the moment. I'll decide after finishing the
Memoir. But probably with the records of the time—before tack-
ling survivors of the events in person.”

“Well, that’s for you to judge. Just do your best. If we can find
out something, perhaps Strafford will rest easier.”

“I hope so.”

He rose and held out his hand. “Good luck in our enterprise.”
We shook hands. “You will carry my thoughts.” He looked
straight at me with his keen blue eyes, no smile lightening their
intensity. Yes, it was a serious business. I'd thought of it as enjoy-
able, lucrative, rewarding, but never till then as the solemn un-
dertaking Sellick clearly felt it to be.

We left a couple of hours later, in time for the bus Tomas assured
us would pass the Quinta shortly before noon. Sellick saw us out
into the courtyard, shading his eyes against the glaring sunlight.
Alec headed down the drive, but I paused for a moment to wave
farewell to Sellick as he stood, smiling, by his fountain. I remem-
bered him as he appeared then—a small, dapper old man, my
benefactor—longer than I did his clear calculating mind. T re-
membered above all the Quinta, its mood and magic as the place
of Strafford’s exile, where he could search forever in the solitude
of his study for the fatal error he didn’t know he made. Where
Strafford ended, I was beginning.

Two days away in the cool uplands had made me forget the
noise and glare of the capital. There was only time to drop the
Memoir off at Alec’s house and bolt some lunch before setting off
for the football stadium in the western suburbs. I wanted to stay
at home and read some more, but Alec wouldn’t have it.
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Presumably, he didn’t see why he should suffer alone.
Maritimo, the island’s premier football team, were at home in a
Portuguese League match that Madeira Life couldn’t afford to
miss. The concrete stadium at Barreiros was ideal for basking
lizards and well-oiled Madeirans who couldn’t tell good football
from bad, but to English eyes the players looked unfit and
unimaginative.

“It’s always like this,” said Alec, as the ball was kicked lethar-
gically around. “Mafiana interspersed with melodrama. I'm sorry
if 1t’s a bit of a bore.”

“It’s not that. It’s just such a contrast with the Quinta.”

“Well, it’s easy to be romantic about Madeira if you live up
there.” A paunchy Madeiran with a beer bottle blundered into
Alec while taking his seat. “This is as real—if not more so—than
the Porto Novo valley. As an historian, you should know that.”

“Perhaps it’ll stop me getting starry-eyed about Strafford’s
Madeiran connection.”

“No fear of that, Martin. You’re more of a realist than I am.”

“Realist enough, I hope, to notice the part you played in get-
ting me this job.”

“Nothing to do with me.” He craned over a shoulder for a
view of the match’s first shot at goal. “It was all Leo’s idea.” To
universal groans, the Maritimo forward ballooned the ball over
the bar.

“Come off it, Alec. Leo hardly stopped saying what a glowing
account you'd given of me. He seemed remarkably well-informed
about how I'm placed at present. And didn’t you say in your letter
the visit might be worth my while? Was that the come-on or
wasn’t 1t?”

“Well, okay, I suppose so. I told him you were a well-qualified
unemployed historian. I knew he might put two and two together
and figure you were the man for the job he had in mind. And I
reckoned it would appeal to you. And I did what I could to help a
friend. What’s wrong with that?”

“Nothing. Don’t get me wrong. I'm grateful for what you've
done.” I was and that was all I'd meant to say till Alec had tried to
deny the part he’d obviously played. But his unease reminded me
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of a conflict of interest that wouldn’t go away. Now that we were
far away from the Quinta, I could at least see whether Alec would
find it embarrassing.

“Sorry, Martin, I didn’t mean to bridle. It must be the heat.”
It was certainly hot, and about to get hotter. A Maritimo forward
fell over in a tackle and everyone in the ground except the referee
awarded a penalty. Shouts, threats and fruit hailed onto the pitch.
“That referee will need a police escort afterwards. A riot would
really boost circulation.” Alec was to be disappointed. It was too
hot even for the Maritimo fans.

When the match lapsed back into torpor, I broached the
burning question. “Obviously, I'm grateful for what promises to
be a fascinating—and well-paid—assignment. But I can’t deny
there’s something holding me back—something I can’t afford to
have Leo hear about.”

“You can trust me, Martin. God knows you could tell Leo
things which might spoil my image as the white knight of jour-
nalism.”

“It’s nothing like that. It’s a delicate matter of declaring an
interest. You see, I'm related to someone in the Memoir.”

“How?”

“By marriage. Helen’s grandparents, the Couchmans, knew
Strafford. They’re central figures in the story.”

“Really? Well now, that is odd.”

“It’s more than odd—it’s bloody awkward. How can I pose as
the dispassionate researcher while knocking on my ex-in-laws’
doors asking embarrassing questions about their past?”

“Surely 1t won’t be quite like that?”

“Maybe not. But shouldn’t I tell Leo?”

“What’s stopping you?”

“The thought that, if I do, he might withdraw the offer.”

“Then don’t. It’s your problem, not his. Besides, aren’t
there...compensations?”

“If you mean antagonizing Helen’s family, I'm past that. And
anyway, I'm in no position to bear grudges.”

“Maybe not, but doesn’t it...well, add to the fun?” He
grinned at me and I found myself grinning back. Yes, there was
something to be relished in delving into the secret past of a fam-
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ily which had never hidden its distaste for me. I'd disgraced them,
but maybe not as much as I’d been made to feel. I hadn’t sought
revenge, but if it flavoured what I was about to do in the pursuit
of truth, history and gainful employment, who was I to resist?

“Coincidence is a strange thing,” I said at last.

“Don’t fight it. After all, if I hadn’t known you, Leo might be
offering this job to somebody else.”

“That’s true. And I can’t afford not to take it.” With that,
I disposed of the last of my doubts. What I'd wanted—and
received—ifrom Alec was confirmation. However much he might
have oversold my talents, I felt I could do the job as well as any-
one—maybe better. Besides, I wanted to do it for its own sake.
Like Sellick, I wanted to know the truth about Edwin Strafford.

Next day, Alec took the Memoir off to photocopy it. Left with
a free morning, 1 set off for an extensive exploration of the by-
ways of Funchal. As I might have known, it was a tiring, unsatis-
factory experience, which merely increased my impatience to
return to the England of 1910.

I was pleased and relieved to find Alec waiting for me when 1
got back to the house.

“There you are, Martin,” he said, pointing to a pile of photo-
copied sheets standing by the Memoir on a table.

“Great. Thanks, Alec.” I leafed through the copies. It was
suddenly odd to see the old marbled tome reduced by modern
technology to a stack of new white paper.

“We'll parcel that up for you to take away and I'll return the
original to Leo on Friday.”

“Fine.”

“Well, I've got to see my printer at two-thirty. If I don’t keep
after him, the magazine will fall behind schedule. Do you want to
come with me?”

“Thanks, but no. Now the Memoir’s back”—I patted its
leather cover—*I think I’ll catch up on my reading.”

After lunch, Alec set off for his appointment and I chose the
most comfortable camp chair to sit on 1n the garden, in the shade
of a palm tree. Bees buzzed in the afternoon heat, but the high
walls kept out the noise of Funchal, preserving the peace and my
concentration. I returned to the Memoir.
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he qualified optimism with which 1 returned from

Barrowteign in January 1910 did not long endure. I had sup-
posed that Elizabeth and I would not have to separate our lives for
many more months, but I was sadly wrong. My error, however, did
not lie in the causes for pessimism then apparent. These were the
disagreement within the Cabinet about the nature of the proposed
Parliamentary reform and the delicate negotiations with the Irish
Nationalists necessary to secure their support for both this and the
outstanding Budget, upon which we were rendered dependent by
the narrowness of our majority. Both these difficulties were, as it
transpired, disposed of with some ease.

The intractability of my own position did not become clear un-
til an announcement by the Prime Minister to the Commons on
February 21st, the content of which surprised many of his own
party and dumbfounded one, namely his own Home Secretary.
What Asquith said that famous evening was that, so far from hav-
ing secured the King’s agreement before the election to create suffi-
ctent peers to force the necessary legislation through the Lords, he
had not even asked for it and that the King had subsequently indi-
cated that there would have to be a second election before he felt un-
der an obligation so to do. I must have blanched visibly in my seat
alongside Asquith and my dismay might have been noticed had
there not been so many backbenchers on hand to express astonish-
ment at this revelation. They had been led to believe that suitable
guarantees by the King existed and now found themselves commat-
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ted to another general election, a scarcely relishable prospect in
view of the ambiguous outcome of the first. But whilst many con-
demned Asquith for improvidence, I had to hold my tongue before
a far greater injustice. The figure standing beside me, orating upon
the legal and procedural complexities in which the government now
Sfound itself, had deceived me. In the moment of that rounded pro-
nouncement, I felt only the blackest outrage. Had he so soon forgot-
ten his undertakings to me of the previous autumn? And if he had
not, why had he left me so long to trust in a course and speed of
events which could now no longer come to pass? It seemed to me that
there could only be one answer: because it suited his purpose. The
man whom I had come to regard as Lloyd George’s dupe had now
duped me.

Try as I might, I was unable to confront Asquith that night. 1
returned home to think long and hard about how this left Elizabeth
and me. I had no wish to tell her of the implications of the an-
nouncement: firstly that the constitutional crisis would not be re-
solved that spring, secondly that our marriage would not be deemed
politic unttl well after a second general election, whenever that
might be. It was unthinkable, after all our self-denial and patience,
to wait again, who knew how long. I could not sleep for fury at
Asquith, paced the empty streets that night and presented myself at
10 Downing Street the following morning at an early hour deter-
mined to see him.

In a typically Asquithian gesture the Prime Minister made no
difficulty about seeing me. I found him alone, still at his breakfast,
and he offered me tea and toast, which I abruptly declined.

“Sit down, Edwin,” he said appeasingly. “I do apologise for
greeting you thus, but after a late sitting I am up surprisingly
early.”

“It is about last night’s sitting that I wish to speak.”

“I thought it might be. My announcement must have discom-
posed you somewhat.”

“Prime Minister; you understate the case greatly. I was
shocked. May I remind you that...”

“Last autumn,” he interrupted, “we discussed your marital

ambitions and agreed they were better deferred until our present
difficulty with the Lords s settled.”
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“And you promused that, if we won the election, it would be set-
tled this spring, which it cannot now be.”

“I promised nothing, Edwin. I expressed certain hopes to you in
good faith. I hoped to have suitable guarantees from the King
that...”

“But you said you had not even sought them.”

“That was to avoid embarrassment to the Crown, which is my
duty. Of course I asked the King, in December, after dissolving
Parliament. He said that he could not resort to the creation of peers
unless two successive elections confirmed our mandate.”

“You did not tell me that.”

“How could I? Think of the damage it might have done party
morale, not to mention our popular support if it had then been
known that two elections would have to be endured if we were to
have our way.”

“I said that you did not tell me.”

“I judged it inappropriate at that stage.”

Ufter the election?”

“I hoped to sway the King to consent without a second election.
Had our victory been clear, I might have succeeded.”

This, I felt sure, was a lie. The King was not of a temperament
to budge on such issues, as Asquith knew better than most. He had
merely been trailing me on a string. What was I to do?

“I think you might have forewarned me of your announce-
ment.”

“I regret that I could not. Relations between an elected leader
and his monarch are essentially delicate. They rely upon complete
confidentiality.”

“If you say so, Prime Minister. The point is: how does this leave
me placed?”

“Not as badly as you may have feared, Edwin. Let me explain.
We need to present the Lords with the Budget and a Parliament Bill
to remove their veto. I think the latter will frighten them into pass-
ing the former. But they will jib at the bill and we will go to
the country on it. If we win again, the King will be obliged to sup-
port us.”

“When?”

“Timing is difficult. The Cabinet needs to agree the terms of a
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Parliament Bill; I hope you wtll assist me there. Then we need to se-
cure the Irish votes to pass such a bill through the Commons, and
you know how slippery they can be. Whatever the form of the legis-
lation, I have little doubt that the Lords will reject it outright.”

And then?”

“We will dissolve Parliament, knowing this time that success s
assured if we win.”

“I cannot see that being resolved before the end of this year.”

“Neither can 1.”

“Then you are extending the term of our agreement substan-
tially. I am not sure Miss Latimer and I can wait that long.”

“Say not that I am extending anything, Edwin, rather that we
are all the victims of circumstance. I can only repeat what I told you
last October: that I need your support, that the party and the coun-
try need it to secure historic reform. Does delaying your marriage
until next year really seem an unacceptable hardship in the light of
that?”

“I can only say that I will consult my fiancée and decide with
her what to do.”

“Then I pray you reach the right decision—or all of us.”

He had me, as he knew, caught on any number of snares. If he
had decetved me once, he could deceive me again. Yet what he said
was superficially true. This was no time for what would seem to the
tgnorant a light-hearted indulgence of my whim. I cared deeply
about what the government was striving to achieve, as Elizabeth
cared deeply for the suffragist cause. The events then unfolding
might serve both aims. Following the election, an all-party concili-
ation commuittee had set about drafting a bill for limited female en-

franchisement which, along with several other just reforms, might
come into being in the wake of a Parliament Act. Neither Elizabeth
nor I wished to be responsible for so prejudicing the outcome of an
election as to risk all that. And Asquith had laced his high-
principled call for personal sacrifice with a hint of venal reward for
those who stood by him. If he could not persuade me, he would seek
to buy me. That, and his persistent duplicity, told against his argu-
ment. Yet what could tell against the facts of the matter, standing as
they did beyond his control and mine?

I left Downing Street that morning my mind reeling at the
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complexity of what once, on a rock in Devon, had seemed so simple.

I immediately took a cab to Putney and reached Mercy’s house

with the frost still on the lawn. Elizabeth was in the drawing room

with a friend, a Suffragette of similar cast, who rapidly excused her-
self upon my arrival. Elizabeth beamed and kissed me, but uttered

a warning word.

“Julia will have recognized you,” she said. “I thought we were
to be cautious.”

“I'm sorry,” I said, “but caution could not stand in my way this
morning. Have you heard what Asquith said in the House last
night?”

“No.”

“He admitted that he had no guarantees from the King to cre-
ate peers in the event that the Lords reject a Parliament Bill.”

“But that means...”

“It means, my dear, that there will have to be a second election,
probably this summer. We would not be able to marry with his sanc-
tion before the autumn at least.”

Elizabeth sank down dejectedly in a chair.

“Oh, Edwin, we have waited so long.”

1 went to her side. “I know, I know. That is why I have come
here this morning, to decide with you whether we should wait any
longer.”

She turned her dark eyes upon me, mirroring in their anguish
the longing I also felt. “You know what I want to do—marry you.
But we cannot throw your career away for that.”

“We can and we will if the two aims are incompatible.”

“But they are not—yet.”

“Perhaps not. But how long can we wait? Even coming here this
morning, I took a risk. Must I take risks to be with you?”

“I don’t want you to, but let us think for a moment. Perhaps the
Lords will pass the bill.”

“We can’t hope for that.”

“Let’s at least wait to see if they do, then decide what to do.”

Elizabeth was right, as I knew, and though I protested feebly a
little longer, we followed her course. It was strange that she, the
young lady, should commend patience to the older man, but her eye

for the right action did not desert her. We resolved to wait, a little
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longer, agreeing however that any further delay would be intolera-
ble. I was prepared, that day, to toss away the bauble of my career
for the shimmer of a loving future with Elizabeth, but she held me
back, and later I thanked her for that. Looking back now, I wish I
had not been so persuaded. We could not then know that the road of
reason on which we had embarked was ultimately to lead us apart.

1 returned, still seething inwardly, to my office and all the
appanages of ministerial rank which sat so tll with the inclination of
my will. It was a difficult task to wait again upon events so much be-
yond my control, but I sought to do so, setting my sights on distant

Sulfilment. And Elizabeth and I still snatched meetings, by pre-
arranged chance, and filled our letters to each other with private
hope.

In that way the month of March elapsed and April wore on. By
then, the Irish had been won over by the ultimate promuse of Home
Rule and the terms of the Parliament Bill agreed by the Cabinet.
The original occaston of the crists, Lloyd George’s 1909 Budget, was
meekly passed by the Lords on April 28th, in the knowledge that the
real battle was yet to be fought.

That evening, most of us ministers gathered at 11 Downing
Street for dinner with the Chancellor of the Exchequer, to celebrate
the laggardly passage of his Budget. It was a cheery, even exuber-
ant, affair and I contrived to affect the prevailing mood, without
much success. Asquith was in good heart, though weary in appear-
ance, while Lloyd George and Churchill contemplated in the eu-
phoria of alcohol and cigars a triumphant summer election,

Sollowed by a resounding victory over the Lords. I strove to share
their confidence and, in a quiet moment, Asquith said to me,
“They’re right, Edwin. By the autumn, we should be in the clear.” I
only wanted to believe him and, that night, in that able, talented
company, I did so.

Even I could not blame Asquith for the next stroke of fate to tell
against me. Suddenly, on May 6th, King Edward died. During the
ten days of mourning that followed, we all soberly realised that his
guarantee to create peers had gone with him and, I personally re-
alised, the prospect of an autumn wedding. I did not feel able to bear
any further delay, nor did I believe I could expect Elizabeth to. Yet

our rightful response was as hard to devise as before.
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The day after the King’s funeral, a lengthy, ceremonial event in
which I was obliged to play my part, I happened to arrive outside
the tropical plant house at Kew Gardens at noon, just as Elizabeth
did. We strolled amongst the exotic fronds in apparently idle dis-
course that was, in truth, an anxious appraisal of our circumstances.

“It is chastening to realise,” I said, “that somebody as seem-
ingly powerful as I should be so at the mercy of others. Now, my
dear Elizabeth, we must wait upon the King.”

“I would rather wait upon you, Edwin.”

“nd I on you. But the new King is an unknown quantity. We do
not yet know his mind.”

“On what subject?”

“On the creation of new peers. Should he be more amenable
than his father, he may consent without another election.”

“That would be marvellous.”

“Indeed it would, disposing swiftly of any objections to our mar-
riage. The problem is that he ts not bound by his father’s guarantees
and may take a harder line. We can only wait upon his word.”

There, again, was the message of which we had both sickened,
the message of waiting that had worn us down. Yet still we had the
light tread of hopeful young lovers as we left the humidity of the
plant house and strolled across the grass, our hands in secret clasp.

On May 27th, we risked dinner at The Baron to mark the an-
niversary of our first meeting. Strangely, that distant event seemed
welcomely simple by comparison with the toils of political complex-
ity in which we now found ourselves. And still we had to wait.

1t was, in truth, not long before King George showed his hand.
In early June, he explored with the leaders of both major parties the
possibility of agreeing some compromise legislation that would
avert an open clash with the Lords. Of this I knew nothing until a
Cabinet meeting on June 6th. It became apparent, from the Prime
Minister’s peroration, that the King had indeed thrown over his fa-
ther’s guarantees to create peers. What he desired was resolution
without conflict. To this end, he wanted the party leaders to meet
and devise a decent settlement. Asquith favoured the idea as, to my
surprise, did Lloyd George. Seeing an end to my personal suspense
receding with an election into the distance, I protested that we
should not become embroiled in interminable negotiation and
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looked to Churchill, hitherto a voluble exponent of dissolving and
having done, for support. But he said nothing, significant though his
exchange of glances with Lloyd George seemed. The others pa-
raded behind Asquith’s assertion of loyalty to the Crown and mine
was a lone voice.

Nevertheless, I was asked by Asquith to stay behind after the
meeting, along with Lloyd George and the Marquess of Crewe
(Leader of the House of Lords). I was thus obliged to simmer
beneath the Prime Minister’s blandishments as to my and their
suttability to constitute the four Liberal representatives to the
Constitutional Conference. There were to be four Conservative rep-
resentatives and one each of the Labour and Irish Nationalist
parties.

The first meeting took place at 10 Downing Street on June 16th,
a scene-setting event at which Asquith and Balfour exchanged high-
sounding nothings, the Conservative peers uttered dire threats and
the Labour and Irish delegates made their shrill presence felt. At a
prearranged meeting in Hyde Park the following Sunday, I was
unable to express more optimism to Elizabeth than that I would re-
sist a little longer before we took matters into our own hands.

The Conference re-convened on June 20th. There was a lengthy
discussion of the merits and demerits of joint sittings, quinquennial
parliaments and exemptions from veto of special categories of legis-
lation, but with no signs of movemnent from either side on any issue.
Ten grave figures sat round a table expending more air than effort
and I grew more depressed and silent with each well-trod avenue
that we fruitlessly explored. A pyrotechnical attack on the
Conservative peers by the Irish representative served to terminate
proceedings in the late afternoon.

As if taking pity on my woebegone expression as I left, Lloyd
George caught my eye and invited me into number 11 for a private
discussion. At tea timne, he served whisky, of which I felt in need and
we both expressed exasperation with the Conference.

“You may be sure,” he said, “that this will go on for months.”

“I'm not sure I'll be able to stick that.” He was not to know that
my intolerance was rather more than the impatience of youth.

“You should do, Edwin. There might be something in it for youw.”

“For all of us, I hope.”
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“Naturally, but I meant that we, you and I, stand to profit per-
sonally from the proceedings.” My ears pricked up—what Celtic
ploy was this?

“I don’t see how.”

“Then consider, Edwin, what is the implication behind the
King’s action in setting up this conference?”

“That he wishes to avoid open conflict between the two Houses
of Parliament.”

“But in what way?”

“By bringing all sides together to reach an agreement.”

“Ezactly. All sides together spell coalition.”

“There’s been no mention of that.”

“No, but there will be, mark nvy words. It’s the only way. How,
otherwise, can the Tories consent to Liberal legislation? A share in
the government would have to be their reward.” There was some-
thing in what he said and it explained his sudden conversion to ne-
gotiation.

“Is that why you supported this Conference?”

He wavered for a moment. “It was certainly in my mind.”

“But where is the profit for you and me?” Now I was playing
him at his own game.

“Isn’t that obvious? A coalition could not function under the ex-
isting premiership. The Tories would never wear it. No, it would be
an opportunity for bright young men of all parties, free of party
dogma, to come together for the good of the country.”

Und the good of themselves?”

“Why not?> Who are we to refuse a golden opportunity if his-
tory offers us one? I've already sounded out Balfour.”

“You've done what?”

“I've had an informal word with Balfour and he likes the idea.
We would drop some reforms for the sake of others that would not be
the victims of party conflict.”

“Such as?”

“Such as votes for women—some women at any rate—which
we’ve discussed before. Such as a federal solution to the Irish prob-
lem. Great gains which might be feathers in our caps.”

A vision came unbidden to my mind, as mayhap it had to Lloyd
George’s. It was of that magical Welsh orator at the head (or near
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it) Qf a ministry of all the talents, A squith’s rein on his ambitions at
last shrugged off, turning millstones to milestones at his gifted
touch, hailed as a hero by Suffragettes, Irish Nationalists and any
number of other discontented groups, able to persuade skilled, clear-
thinking colleagues of the justice of whatever cause he might ad-
vance. Here was not merely an aspirant to political primacy seeking
my support but a man hungry for power who saw in me a potential
co-conspirator.

“It won’t wash, L.G. Votes for a few propertied women would be
worse than votes for none. As for a federal Ireland you might con-
vince Balfour of that, but he could never carry his party with him.
And if you did oust Asquith, you would break our own party in the
process.”

He leant forward, eyes twinkling beneath hooded brows.
“Would that matter?”

The engaging iconoclast had at last gone too far. “I happen to
think so,” I said. “I care about the Liberal Party and have no wish
to see it founder on the rocks of a pointless coalition.”

“Not so pointless, Edwin.”

“The only point, so far as I can see, is to further your career.”

Und yours.”

“Perhaps. But neither is worth so much double-dealing.”

Lloyd George snorted with derision and strode to the window.
“You’ll achieve nothing without getting your hands dirty.”

“Then nothing may be preferable.”

He turned. “You disappoint me, you really do.”

1 rose from my seat. There was only one thing to say.

s a matter of fact, L.G., so do you.” Whether or not I disap-
pointed him, he had certainly misjudged me, and his annoyance
was as much with giving himself away to somebody who might now
oppose hum as with the failure of his argument.

1 made to leave but Lloyd George intercepted me at the door.
“Stay a moment, Edwin,” he said with a silken smile. “We should
not fall out over a little idle theorizing.”

“Not so idle, if I'm any judge.”

His tone changed to one of menace. “If you are not with us, you
are against us.”

A1l you have to do is not to tnvolve me.”
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With that, I left. But Lloyd George’s use of the collective pro-

noun had not been lost on me and we both knew that he had already
tnvolved me more than was wise. I walked away along Downing
Street sadder than I was angry that we responsible men of govern-
ment were now falling to exploit for our own profit that crisis of the
constitution about which we claimed to feel so deeply. There was,
for all that, a personal strand to my sadness—the realization that,
in seeking to behave in a way that would enable me to continue with
my career; I had put at risk that which I cherished above every-
thing: my love for Elizabeth. It was time, I felt, to accord that the
priority it deserved.

What would, what did, my darling Elizabeth have to say on the
matter? I drove openly to Putney the following afternoon and found
her and Mercy taking tea in the garden. Mercy soon found some
roses to prune and left us to talk. I shall ever recall Elizabeth’s
serene and loving company that sultry afternoon on the Longest
Day of 1910. She reclined in her chair beneath a parasol, a golden
gaze above a cream dress, and sought to lead me to the right answer.
She had a gift of calmness before adversity that was part of her
beauty.

“I am poorly placed to advise you, Edwin,” she said. “But is it
not your duty to inform Mr. Asquith of his Chancellor’s inten-
tions?”

“So I think, my dear. But I have no wish to sow discord. Besides,
there was something to commend what Lioyd George said.”

“For him only. I feel sure you are right there.”

“Others may benefit. Perhaps even your very own WSPU.”

“Not by this latest private members’ bill. There’s nothing dem-
ocratic about enfranchising a few middle-aged, property-owning
women who vote Conservative.”

“With the posstble exception of Aunt Mercy?”

Elizabeth smiled. “Granted.”

“You are right, though. It’s what I said to L.G. But for him it’s
become a bargaining counter in his deal with Balfour. That’s what
appals me—that none of these issues seems to matter to him except
as a means to an end, that end being Lloyd George for Prime
Minister.”

“Edwin, I rejoice that it appals you. I fear, however, that others
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may not see things the same way—others in the WSPU, for in-
stance.”

“Really?”

“Oh yes. Remember Julia Lambourne? You met her here once.”

“I think I do.”

“Well, she told me recently that Christabel Pankhurst secretly
supports this bill—that’s why the truce she called for the election’s
been extended. I put more faith now in what Sylvia Pankhurst
thinks, but Christabel still determines policy. And what youve now
said fits what I've recently heard.”

“Which is?”

HAccording to Julia, Christabel has received intimations from
an unnamed minister that, if we accept this bill as a stopgap mea-
sure and cause no further trouble, we will receive all we ask at some
suttable future date. What if ...”

“That minister were Lioyd George?”

“I think it must be.”

“But L.G. can’t make promuses like that.”

“He can if he doesn’t mean them to be kept. From what you say,
he’s quite capable of deceitving Christabel in order to appear as the
pactfier of the Suffragettes.”

“That’s true, Elizabeth, I've decided what to do. I shall see the
Prime Minister and tell him what’s happening to his precious con-

ference. In return _for my honesty, let him honour his promise to
sanction our marriage.”

“I pray you succeed.”

“If not, we will marry anyway and damn the consequences—if
you will still have me.”

Elizabeth rose lightly from her chair and moved across to kiss
me. “Of course I will still have you, Edwin. And you me, I hope.”

“Oh yes, my darling, you may be sure of that.”

Suddenly, her expression became grave as she knelt beside me.
“There may be one other thing to worry about.”

“What might that be?”

“I fear that, for all our discretion, some people in the movement
know about us, or think they know—perhaps even Christabel
herself.”

“What makes you think so?”
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“Well, Julia is a darling, but she talks too freely. I'm sure she
must have let slip seeing you here, because I've been asked lots of
awkward questions recently.”

“Fear not. One way or the other, we will soon have nothing to
hide.” And certain it seemed that it would be so, as Elizabeth knelt
before me on the lawn beneath the cherry blossoms and lent me her
strength and love. But little I knew that the worst we feared was bet-
ter than what was, in truth, to come.

The following morning, I telephoned Asquith’s secretary from
my office and arranged to see the Prime Minister in his room at the
House of Commons, at five o'clock that afternoon. I was there in
time to sit in on a low-key debate in the Chamber before walking
smartly up to Asquith’s room even as Big Ben began to strike the
hour.

The Prime Minister looked up weartly from his desk as I en-
tered, his blank expression unmoving. “What can I do for you,
Edwin?” His tone would have seemed tart had it not been so tired.

“It concerns the Conference, Prime Minister.”

“Please sit down.” I did so. “I daresay it is not going as well—
or as quickly—as you had hoped. Alas, it cannot be helped.”

“You will know from what I said in Cabinet that I have no faith
in the Conference as a solution to our problems.”

“I also know why it is a blow to your particular ambitions,
Edwin. But they can form no part of what the government judges to
be best.”

“I accept that, of course, though you have more than once im-
plied the reverse.” I had not intended to sound a carping note and
instantly regretted it, but Asquith scarcely seemed to notice, his eyes
fixed on some indeterminate point in the middle distance.

“If that is why you have come,” he said at last amid his lan-
guor, “there is nothing that I can offer you.”

“It is not why I have come, so let us say no more of it. What has
brought me here this afternoon is the state of the Conference about
which I had such doubts but which I am doing my best to make a
20 of”

s are we all.”

“I think not. I have recently becorne aware that a member of



PAST CARING 99

our own delegation may be pursuing schismatic objectives under
the cover of negotiations with the Conservatives.”

Again, there was no visible reaction from Asquith. “Be so good
as to explain.”

“Secret negotiations have commenced geared towards replacing
this government with a coalition in which those party to the negotia-
tions would have their reward and from which others—including
yourself—would be excluded.”

nd you accuse one of our delegation of this clandestine nego-
tiation?”

“I'do.”

Und who might that be?”

“The Chancellor of the Exchequer.”

“I see.” There followed only silence.

Ufter Monday’s session, L.G. asked me if I would be interested
in such a proposal, if I would cooperate with him in agreeing terms
with Balfour and support them against you when the time came.”

Und how did you reply?”

“I refused. That is why I am telling you now, as 1 felt to be my
duty.”

“Then I'm obliged to you.”

“I thought you might wish to...”

“Please don’t trouble yourself to continue. I think you have said
enough.”

“But what will you do?”

“Nothing.” His inertness of pose confirmed his reply.

“Prime Minister, I don’t think I understand.”

“Very well, I will specify that which I had hoped to spare you.”
There was a visible summoning of effort. “What you say may or
may not be true. I find it entirely credible that Lloyd George should
engage in such activities—I have long known him to be utterly un-
scrupulous. But I must weigh against that possibility the known fact
that you oppose the Conference. I included you in our delegation
against my better judgement, because I thought that, as Home
Secretary, you had a right to take part in discussions concerning
parliamentary reform. Yet I know that, for personal reasons, you
feel frustrated by this method of proceedings and might therefore
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have an interest in undermining my faith in the Conference and
panicking me into an election to forestall the backstairs intriguing
of which you now carry tales. No doubt you suppose that, following
an election, you could marry in the knowledge that any scandal as-
soctated with it would have dissipated by the time you had to face
your constituents again.”

My avuncular premier had gone too far. “You may think what
you like, Prime Minister. As I see i1, there ts no scandal associated
with my proposed marriage to Miss Latimer. You originally cited
your own embarrassment as the objection. It is true that I con-
sider the Conference to be a waste of time, but it s now acquiring sin-
ister connotations and, if you wish to tgnore the threat it may pose to
your own position, that is your privilege. I would advise you to take
it more seriously. As for myself, you are mistaken if you impute dis-
honourable motives to me. I have always sought to deal properly in
this matter, whilst others have delayed and dissembled. You confess
to doubts about the probity of some of your colleagues. I believe those
doubts are now handicapping the execution of the government’s du-
ties. L will therefore have to review my part in that government.”

I rose to leave, but Asquith held up his hand in a gesture that
was more conciliatory than his words had so far been. “Stay a mo-
ment, Edwin. I may have spoken hastily and have no wish to im-
pugn your honour. I confess that there has been so much duplicitous
dealing since the election that I sometimes distrust even the trust-
worthy. I hope you will see why I cannot afford to act on what you
have said. As for your own position,